
 

Page 1 of 590 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 18, 2019 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of February 4, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Hearing on a proposed resolution adopting and levying the final schedule of assessments for the 
2018 Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 9. 
 
a) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution adopting and levying the final schedule of assessments for the 2018 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project, Zone 9. 

4. Public hearing on the proposed FY20 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 6, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

5. Resolution approving and adopting the FY20 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 

6. Public hearing on a proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the Walnut Street Box 
Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project and to authorize acquisition of 
private property for said project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 1, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

7. Resolution approving a public improvement for the Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - 
University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project and authorizing acquisition of private property for said 
project. 

8. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published February 8, 2019) 
 

1



 

Page 2 of 590 

b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

9. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to the College 
Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, upon its first consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Receive and file the following resignations: 
a) Karen Morlan, Housing Commission.  
b) Todd Blanford, Human Rights Commission. 

11. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of February 4, 2019 relative to the following 
items: 
a) FY20 Budget.  
b) Bills & Payroll. 

12. Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of February 4, 2019. 

13. Approve the application of Buzz-Smoke & Vapor, 2125 College Street, for a 
cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permit. 

14. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
c) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) The Hydrant Firehouse Grill, 2002 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
f) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - change in ownership. 
h) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - change in ownership. 
i) Tobacco Outlet Plus, 4116 University Avenue, Class C beer - change in ownership. 
j) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Class B native wine - permanent transfer. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Second Amendment to Lease with Sartori 
Memorial Hospital, Inc. and Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare-Iowa, Inc., formerly known as Covenant 
Health System, Inc., allowing a name change from Sartori Memorial Hospital to MercyOne Cedar 
Falls Medical Center. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Form of Contract with Miller Fence & Flag Co. 
for a security fence and gates for the Public Safety Facility. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Asphalt Crushing Services Informal Project 
Contract with Peterson Contractors, Inc. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. relative to the Oak Park Boulevard Sewer Replacement Project. 

19. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peters Construction Corporation for the 
Place to Play Playground Project. 

2



 

Page 3 of 590 

20. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 2019 
Street Construction Project. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 3 with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. relative to 2019 Engineering Services. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of one Owner Purchase Agreement and two Tenant 
Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting one Public Utility Easement and one Owner's 
Temporary Easement for Construction, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction 
Project. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of the Iowa Certified Local Government (CLG) 
2018 Annual Report of the Historic Preservation Commission to the State Historical Society of Iowa.  

24. Resolution approving and authorizing a Joint Project Agreement with the City of Waterloo relative to 
reconstruction of the University Avenue & Midway Drive intersection. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with 
Community ReCode, LLC relative to the Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update Project. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

26. Allow Bills and Payroll of February 18, 2019. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, FEBRUARY 4, 2019 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Absent: 
Kruse. 

 
52178 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Wieland that the minutes of the 

Regular Meeting of January 21, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of 
record. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
  Mayor Brown introduced the new Library Board Director Kelly Stern. 
 
52179 -  It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2935, 

amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located to the north of Arbors Drive and west of Richard Road from A-1, 
Agricultural District, and placing the same in R-1, Residence District, be passed 
upon its third and final consideration. The Mayor put the question on the motion 
and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Ordinance #2935 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52180 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Green that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of January 21, 2019 
relative to the following items:  
a) West 1st Street Reconstruction Project Update.  
b) Amendments to the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District.  
c) Bills & Payroll. 
 
Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of December 2018. 
 
Approve and authorize execution of an Order Accepting 
Acknowledgment/Settlement Agreement relative to a First Tobacco Violation 
regarding Up In Smoke, 2218 College Street. 

 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Hy-Vee Gas, 6527 University Avenue, Class C beer - renewal.  
b) Cottonwood Canyon, 419 Washington Street, Special Class C liquor & outdoor 

service - renewal.  
c) Jorgensen Plaza (Table 1912, Diamond Event Center and Gilmore's Pub), 

5307 Caraway Lane, Class C liquor & outdoor service - adding Class B wine. 
 
 Motion carried unanimously. 

4



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

 
52181 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Blanford that the following resolutions 

be introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,409, approving and adopting a job classification for the position of 
Video Production Specialist in the Information Systems Division. 

 
Resolution #21,410, approving and authorizing execution of a lease relative to 
property vacated by the 2008 flood buyout programs. 
 
Resolution #21,411, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Storage of Portable Single Classroom Unit with the Cedar Falls Community 
School District relative to storage of two portable classroom units. 
 
Resolution #21,412, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of furniture from Storey Kenworthy, Kirk Gross and Office Concepts for 
the Public Safety Facility. 
 
Resolution #21,413, approving and authorizing execution of one Owner 
Purchase Agreement and seven Tenant Purchase Agreements, and approving 
and accepting two Public Utility Easements, one Owner's Temporary Grading 
Easement for Construction and one Tenant's Temporary Grading for 
Construction Easement, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction 
Project. 
 
Resolution #21,414, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 1 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. relative to the 2017 
Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 
 
Resolution #21,415, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Peters Construction Corporation, in the amount of $404,938.53, for 
the Place to Play Playground Project. 
 
Resolution #21,416, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 2 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. relative to 2019 Engineering 
Services. 
 
Resolution #21,417, approving the closure of the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) 
Program (a/k/a Section 8) Waiting List through July 31, 2019, as recommended 
by the Housing Commission. 
 
Resolution #21,418, approving and authorizing execution of an Addendum to the 
Preconstruction Agreement for Primary Road Project with the Iowa Department 
of Transportation relative to the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,419, setting February 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing on 
the proposed FY20 Budget for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Resolution #21,420, setting February 18, 2019 as the date of public hearing on 

5



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

proposed amendments to Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 
 
Resolution #21,421, setting March 4, 2019 as the date of public hearing on a 
proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the Ridgeway Avenue 
Reconstruction Project and to authorize acquisition of private property for said 
project. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,409 through #21,421 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52182 -   It was moved by Miller and seconded by Wieland that Resolution #21,422, 

approving and adopting certain revised Personnel Policies, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Blanford and clarification by City 
Attorney Rogers, it was moved by Blanford and seconded by Green to amend 
proposed changes by retaining the previous language in Policy 302. Following 
questions by Councilmembers Darrah and Wieland, and response by 
Councilmember Blanford, the motion to amend Policy 302 carried unanimously. 

 
It was then moved by Blanford and seconded by Green to amend proposed 
changes by retaining the previous language in Policy 903. Following questions 
and comments by Councilmembers Miller, Green, Blanford, deBuhr and Darrah, 
and responses by City Attorney Rogers and Mayor Brown, the motion to amend 
Policy 902 carried unanimously. 
  
City Attorney Rogers responded to a request by Green for clarification of 
proposed changes in Policy 208 regarding seniority. 
 
It was then moved by Green and seconded by Miller to amend proposed 
changes by removing elected officials from Policy 507. Following comments by 
Councilmembers Green, Wieland and Miller, the motion to amend Policy 507 
failed 2-4, with Councilmembers Miller, deBuhr, Darrah and Wieland voting Nay. 
 
The Mayor then put the question on the original motion as amended and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green.  Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #21,422 duly passed and adopted as amended. 

 
52183 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #21,423, 

receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Peterson 
Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $4,711,475.14, for the 2019 Street 
Construction Project, be adopted. Following a comment by Councilmember 
Green, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Blanford, Darrah, 
Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#21,423 duly passed and adopted. 

6



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 
52184 -     It was moved by Wieland and seconded by deBuhr that the bills and payroll of 

February 4, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Nay: None. Motion carried.  

 
52185 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Green that the meeting be adjourned 

at 7:23 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

7



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 
 

RESOLUTION ADOPTING AND LEVYING THE FINAL 
SCHEDULE OF ASSESSMENTS FOR THE 

2018 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT, ZONE 9 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received the final schedule 

of assessments showing the assessments proposed to be made for the construction of the 2018 
Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 9, Cedar Falls, Iowa, completed under contract by Feldman 
Concrete of Dyersville, Iowa, and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best interest of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and adopt said schedule of assessments; and that there be, 
and is hereby assessed and levied, as a special tax against and upon each of the lots, parts of lots 
and parcels of land, and the owner or owners thereof liable to assessment for the cost of said 
improvements, the respective sums expressed in figures set opposite to each of the same on account 
of the cost of construction of the said improvements.  Said assessments against said lots and parcels 
of land are hereby declared to be in proportion to the special benefits conferred upon said property by 
said improvements. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved that said assessments of $500.00 or more shall be payable 

in five (5) equal annual installments and shall bear interest at the rate of nine percent (9%) per 
annum, the maximum rate permitted by law, from the date of acceptance of the improvements 
(January 7, 2019); the first installment of each assessment, or total amount thereof, if it be less than 
$500, with interest on the whole assessment from date of acceptance of the work by the Council, shall 
become due and payable on July 1, 2019; succeeding annual installments, with interest on the whole 
unpaid amount, shall respectively become due on July 1st annually thereafter, and shall be paid at the 
same time and in the same manner as the September semi-annual payment of ordinary taxes.  Said 
assessments shall be payable at the office of the County Treasurer of Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby authorized and directed to 

certify said final assessments to the County Treasurer of Black Hawk County, Iowa, to be collected in 
the same manner as property taxes. 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of February, 2019. 
 

 
      ____________________________________ 
      James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

8



 

 

 

FINAL SCHEDULE OF ASSESSMENTS FOR THE 

2018 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT, 

ZONE 9 

 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

9



10



11



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: February 6, 2019 

 SUBJECT: FY2020 Budget 

 
Attached are the state budget forms for the FY20 budget.  This sets the $10.95 rate 
that was approved at the Committee of the Whole budget worksession on February 4

th
 

and the maximum budget amount of $81,783,380 that the hearing was set for.  The 
budget, as proposed will cause a .13% decrease on residential properties, a 2.41% 
decrease on commercial/industrial properties, and a 7.05% decrease on multi-
residential properties.  
 
Council was provided with the full budget document prior to the budget worksession.  
Once the budget is formally approved, new books will be printed and published on our 
website.   
 
 
If you have any questions about the budget or the budget process, please feel free to 
contact me.  
 
 
 

12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Technician II 
 
 DATE: January 14, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement 
  Project Number BR-106-3152 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct the Walnut Street Box Culvert, 
University Branch of Dry Run Creek. The project will require the acquisition of 
temporary easements and permanent easements along the corridor. Plans for the 
project shows the need for acquisitions from approximately four (4) properties. 
 
Iowa law requires that the City Council hold a public hearing to authorize proceeding 
with the project, including the purchase of right of way.  The public hearing offers an 
opportunity for the public, especially those from whom the easements will be purchased, 
to comment on the project. 
 
We recommend that the Council schedule a Public Hearing for February 18, 2019, to be 
held at the regularly scheduled City Council meeting. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

321



322



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: February 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Zoning Ordinance text amendments to define and clarify the standards for mixed-
use buildings 

 

 

REQUEST: 
Zoning Ordinance Amendments 
Section 29-160, CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District 

PETITIONER: Department of Community Development 

LOCATION: College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District 
 

 
PROPOSAL 
City Staff is recommending changes to the zoning ordinance to define and establish parking and 
design standards for mixed-use buildings in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning 
District (CHN). Previous discussions with the Commission earlier this year involved a broader 
set of amendments to the zoning ordinance related to parking in both College Hill and in 
Downtown. Since there is a parking study currently underway in the Downtown area, we will 
focus at this time on changes to the Section 29-160, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning 
District to clarify the language in the zoning ordinance that has created confusion about the 
parking requirements for buildings that have ground floor commercial uses and upper floor 
apartments. The intended goal of the proposed amendments is to create clear and objective 
standards in the code to facilitate consistent review and approval of development in the College 
Hill Neighborhood Overlay District. Promoting mixed use development, maintaining commercial 
“street level” uses, retail expansion and having a variety of housing types conveniently located 
next to commercial and civic uses are goals listed in the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed a number of mixed-use development 
plans throughout the city over the past few years. Given some ambiguity in the zoning 
ordinance, City staff has interpreted the principal use in a mixed-use building in the C-3 
District to be the use located on the main floor or street level floor of the property. Upper floor 
uses have been considered secondary or incidental uses of the property. However, as the 
demand for residential in these urban centers have increased, larger mixed-use buildings have 
been proposed than when these definitions of principal and secondary were originally written 
into the code. Therefore, it is important to clearly define what a mixed-use building is, to 
remove ambiguous or conflicting language in the code, and update the ordinance in order to 
provide consistent review of applications, clarity for the public, and guidance for developers 

323



when they are designing new projects in the College Hill Neighborhood.  These ordinance 
amendments will add a definition of a mixed-use building, and add clear direction on how 
parking is calculated for new mixed-use buildings. Based on public input at the Planning and 
Zoning Commission meeting on December 12, the Commission requested that for existing 
mixed-use buildings, upper floor residential uses remain exempt from parking requirements. 
Existing mixed-use buildings in the College Hill Business District are generally two stories in 
height, so this allowance will keep existing apartments conforming and maintain the option for 
conversion of second story space into residential dwellings for those few buildings where the 
upper floor space is currently underutilized.  
 
Staff notes that the proposed change to add a fairly substantial parking requirement for upper 
floor residential in new mixed-use buildings may need to be revisited after a parking study is 
completed for the area.  In the meantime, eliminating ambiguous language and establishing 
clearly stated requirements for parking for dwellings within a mixed-use building will provide 
direction for property owners, developers, City staff, the Commission and the City Council.   

Some of the questions that might be explored through a parking study include: 

 What is the availability of parking on-street and in public parking lots within a block of 
the business district during peak times?  

 Are there better ways to manage the on-street parking spaces and existing public 
parking lots to meet short term customer parking needs of the businesses?  

 Since most of the college students living in the apartment buildings and mixed-use 
buildings located directly adjacent to the UNI campus can easily walk to and from 
classes, should every resident be guaranteed a parking space directly adjacent to their 
apartment? To reserve the prime land abutting the UNI campus for businesses and 
housing, are there remote parking solutions that could reasonably meet the parking 
demand of those students who use their cars primarily on weekends?   

Setting the parking requirement at the right level is important, particularly in urban areas 
where land costs are higher and there is a desire to use land efficiently to create walkable 
neighborhoods and commercial areas with a mainstreet character, which sets them apart from 
auto-centric commercial districts in outlying areas. While it is very important to make sure 
there is adequate parking provided in a business district, there are costs to over-prescribing 
private, off-street parking, particularly in an area that is intended for pedestrian-oriented 
mainstreet development. The potential costs of over-prescribing private off-street parking 
include: 

 Loss of valuable land that could otherwise be used for active and revenue generating 
uses, such as businesses and housing. Requiring parking beyond what is needed 
imposes an unnecessary cost on new development, which translates into higher 
residential rents and higher lease rates for businesses;  

 Requiring off-street parking on each building site makes it difficult to maintain or create a 
walkable business district with a mainstreet character with storefronts clustered together 
along the public sidewalk; 

 Private, off-street parking areas located on each lot discourages walking and biking 
since businesses and housing are spread out over a larger area interrupted by parking 
lots making it more time-consuming and unpleasant to walk to different destinations 
within the area;  

324



 High parking requirements may discourage redevelopment in the College Hill area where 
available land for development is limited, even though one of the primary goals for the 
College Hill Business District is to encourage investment and revitalization.  

 
ANALYSIS 
 
In Section 29-160, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, there are specific parking 
standards that are listed for a number of land uses, including single-unit dwellings, two-unit 
dwellings (duplexes), multiple dwellings, boardinghouse/rooming house, and fraternity/sorority, 
but there is no standard for what is required in a commercial or mixed-use building.  However, 
even though there is indication both in the Comprehensive Plan and in the code that mixed-use 
buildings are encouraged within the College Hill Business District, there is no “mixed-use” 
definition and there is ambiguous language about principal, secondary, and accessory uses. 
The language implies that upper floor uses within a “commercial use” are accessory or 
secondary uses and no on-site parking is required for such uses. Calling upper floor apartments 
in a multi-story building “accessory uses” seems counter-intuitive because they do not fall 
clearly into the definition of an accessory use, which is typically reserved for uses and structures 
that are subordinate to the main use of the property. In fact, the examples of accessory uses 
listed in the definition include parking and storage. The other term used in the code that refers to 
upper floor uses is “secondary.” However, the code does not include a definition of what a 
secondary use is, which has led to much speculation and interpretation, parsing of the zoning 
code language and much frustration on the part of the public, developers, City staff and the 
Commission.  
 
The common understanding of a mixed-use building is that it is a building that contains multiple 
principal uses in one building. There may also be accessory uses, such as parking and storage 
areas, within the building that serve the principal users of the building. These accessory uses 
are carefully placed within the building so they contribute to the convenience and comfort of the 
businesses and residents, but do not detract from pedestrian environment along the street.  
 
While further study and refinement to parking standards in the zoning code is warranted, staff 
recommends adopting the following limited changes to the College Hill Overlay as an interim 
measure to provide clarity for the public and for property owners that want to move forward with 
new buildings and improvements in the College Hill business district.  In summary, Staff 
recommends: 

 eliminating the confusing language about accessory and secondary use; 

 adding a definition of a mixed-use building; 

 Clearly stating the parking requirements for the uses within a mixed-use building. Staff 
recommends adding a requirement for upper floor residential dwellings within a mixed-
use building at a ratio of 1 parking stall per bedroom, but not less than 1 parking stall per 
unit.  This ensures that all unit sizes and bedrooms are treated the same and creates a 
simple calculation for the building as a whole. Staff believes that this ratio may still be on 
the high side and parking may be over-supplied, because this assumes that everyone 
living within the building will have a car and needs on-site parking. Staff is also 
recommending eliminating the visitor parking requirements. Staff believes the substantial 
benefits of using land efficiently for active building uses to foster a walkable, mainstreet 
character to the College Hill Business District outweighs the potential costs of the 
instances when visitors might exceed the available private parking on the property. Staff 
believes this is a good interim solution step until further study of the public parking 

325



system, including available University parking can be completed. There is already 
considerable anecdotal evidence that public parking lots, particularly those located east 
of College Street are underutilized, with parking available for visitors at all times of day.  

 Add language to ensure that upper floor residential uses within existing mixed-use 
buildings remain exempt from parking requirements; 

 For consistency purposes, staff recommends changing the parking requirement for 
multiple dwellings to match the proposed parking requirement for residential dwelling 
units within a mixed-use building;  

 Establishing minimum and maximum setbacks for mixed-use buildings to ensure a 
mainstreet character as envisioned for the College Hill Business District.  

 Establishing building design standards for mixed-use buildings that address safe and 
prominent building entries, quality storefront design, and standards for high quality 
building materials and building articulation to match what is required for multiple dwellings 
within the College Hill Overlay.  

 Some minor clean-up on the terms used for different types of dwellings to match Section 
29-2, Definitions.  

 

A copy of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District language is attached with new 
language underlined and language proposed for deletion indicated with strike-through notation.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION & STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning & Zoning Commission and the Community Development Department recommend 
approval of the attached zoning code amendments.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
1/24/2018 
 

Chair Oberle introduced the discussion with regard to principal and 
accessory/secondary uses and Mr. Sturch provided background information. He 
introduced elements for consideration with regard to mixed use developments 
within the C-3 District. He summarized the Comprehensive Plan goals and 
introduced ideas to consider when drafting the ordinance amendments.  
  
The Commission members discussed the need to better define an accessory 
use. Mr. Sturch indicated that the accessory use is only on upper floors of a 
commercial structure; must comply with the residential parking guidelines; and all 
parking must be placed behind the street level storefront (commercial use). 
 
Mr. Sturch explained that the C-3 District does not have parking requirements for 
residential as an accessory use. The City began to apply the requirements based 
on the State Street development as the lots were assembled. This proposal 
would better define the building use and set up parking requirements.  
 
Mr. Wingert stated that it is expensive to redevelop and feels the 50% use 
restricts development. Ms. Giarusso stated that if the Commission is looking at 
C-3 zoning, residential should be considered as well. Ms. Saul stated many 
shoppers are from outside the area, and parking needs to be considered. 
 
Mr. Sturch also discussed efficiency/studio unit considerations. These ordinance 
changes should include the area calculation of each efficiency/studio unit and its 
parking ratio. 

326



 
Several members of the public provided comments on the importance of off 
street parking in the downtown and College Hill area. 
 
Mr. Sturch indicated that staff will seek input from Community Main Street and 
the College Hill Partnership as well as surveying other communities. This matter 
will be brought back to the Commission in March. 
 

Discussion  
3/28/2018 

Chair Oberle introduced the item and Mr. Sturch provided background 
information. He summarized the potential changes to the ordinance. At this time, 
these ordinance amendments are being presented for discussion. 
 

There were several people in the audience to comment on the proposed 
changes to the zoning ordinance. 
 
Eashaan VajPeyi, 3831 Convair Lane provided some comments on the parking 
proposal for efficiency/studio units.  
 

Ryan Kreiner, 4525 Quesada Court, spoke about the College Hill Partnership 
and their mission statement.  
 

Dr. Brian Sires, 8230 Beaver Hills Lane, talked about occupancy standards in 
one bedroom units. He believes that the proposed parking ratio for 
efficiency/studio units will create a parking problem by not providing ample stalls 
for the tenants. 
 

The commission had some comments on the proposed zoning amendments. Mr. 
Holst asked for clarification on the parking requirements between the studio and 
one-bedroom units. Ms. Giarusso asked how staff came up with six hundred 
square feet for the studio units. Mr. Oberle asked how parking was decided for 
the studio units. Ms. Saul and Mr. Leeper had questions about the exceptions 
that are proposed. Mr. Sturch responded to these questions.  
 

Mr. Wingert asked if the local developers would comment on the proposed 
changes. Mr. Holst stated that he wants to see commercial use preserved in 
commercial districts. Mr. Arntson asked what the difference would be between 
R-4 and the C-3 proposed parking requirements. Mr. Wingert asked if there are 
any current buildings that would fit the new criteria to use as an example. Mr. 
Sturch responded to these questions. 
 

Community Development Director Sheetz provided some comments during the 
discussion. These parking requirements will be for residential uses in the C-3 
district and citywide for efficiency/studio units.  
 

Mr. Wingert wanted to put on the record that it he had no reason to abstain from 
this project.  
 

Chair Oberle noted that this item will be continued as a public hearing on April 
11. That will be the time for any input from developers and citizens. 
 

327



Discussion 
4/11/18 

Chair Oberle introduced the item and Mr. Sturch provided background information. He 
explained that the goals are to promote existing Commercial Districts for commercial 
users, promote mixed use developments, and maintain commercial users at the street 
level. Comprehensive Plan Goals include mixed land uses, retail expansion, and 
promoting walkable neighborhoods. He discussed mixed use buildings and the 
definitions that are involved, including principal use, accessory/secondary use and 
consistency with past interpretation of main level use. Mr. Sturch also talked about 
parking provisions that need to be addressed, and displayed the results of a parking 
survey done in other cities. Staff introduced the Ordinance at the January 24, 2018 
meeting and have met with Community Main Street and the College Hill Partnership. He 
noted questions that still need to be discussed and considered, and stated that staff 
would like to continue discussion, research additional information and continue public 
outreach to gain input from the community. Staff recommends closing the public hearing 
and tabling the matter in order to gather more information. 
 
 Mr. Holst made a motion to approve to receive and file the public notice. Saul seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Adkins, Giarusso, 
Hartley, Holst, Leeper, Oberle, Saul and Wingert), and 0 nays. 

 
Chair Oberle declared the public hearing open and invited the public to come forward 
with comments or questions. Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane (on behalf of his 
client, Brian Sires and himself), asked why certain parts of the code ordinance overhaul 
are taking place now and if they are eventually going to be run through a consultant. He 
questioned the parking ratios that were displayed during the introduction and stated that 
he doesn’t believe Cedar Falls would want the parking in the city to be comparative to a 
community like Iowa City. He also cautioned allowing the mixed use definition to create 
a situation where parking is not required in places where it will be needed. He noted that 
issues with variances made for parking should be handled by the Board of Adjustment, 
not the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
Dennis Bigelow, 3909 Beaver Ridge Circle, stated that parking needs to be available for 
businesses to survive. He noted that he has spoken to different individuals that are in 
business with regard to businesses on College Hill. He asked what the requirements be 
to open a business in that area and the standard answer was parking availability and 
accessibility. 
 
Carol Lilly, Community Main Street, applauded the Commission for taking a look at the 
issue. She noted that there is a strategic planning session scheduled for discussion of 
the parking issues, and would like to get input from other community members and 
business owners. She also stated that historically, residential is a component of 
commercial, which is an important part of downtown that they would like to continue.  
 

 Brad Leeper clarified that the Commission is not trying to legitimize a particular project. 
The current zoning requirements were set up based on a classic Main Street 
commercial building with one story of residential above it. Recently, the Commission has 
been seeing a different level of development with larger buildings and more density and 
they are trying to address the issues to clarify it.  
 
Ms. Saul noted that a constituent sent a text to a councilmember stating that Ms. Saul 
was upset about the parking issue. She clarified that she was concerned, not upset. She 
agrees that each district is different in its own way and looks forward to further 
discussion.   
 
Mr. Holst stated that he doesn’t agree with having different C-3 regulations between 

328



downtown and College Hill. He believes that more variations create more difficult 
situations. He would prefer a solution that will be uniform and work across the whole 
City. He also mentioned that the studio size may need to be reconsidered for 
appropriate parking adjustment.  
 
Ms. Saul asked again about principal use of a structure. She would like more discussion 
on how that is determined. Ms. Howard clarified that the reason a mixed use definition is 
being considered is to get away from a principal or secondary use, as all uses in larger 
mixed use buildings are really principal uses and are creating some kind of parking 
demand. There is currently confusion on how to calculate parking. The idea is to 
eliminate the confusion and gray area for parking requirements.  
 
Ms. Giarusso asked about the proposed zoning code overhaul review process when a 
consultant is hired and whether it would be better to wait to make these changes. Ms. 
Howard stated that it may be some time before a new zoning code would be in place 
and the intent of the current effort is to clarify the parking standards, particularly for the 
C-3 Zones, as there may be more developments proposed before the total overhaul is 
discussed. Parking standards can be reviewed again for the zoning code overhaul; 
however, it is currently a concern, so probably should be addressed at this time to 
prevent further uncertainty and confusion.  
 
Carol Lilly stated that what is really needed is a better picture of where we want to go as 
a City. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to table the item for a later date. Mr. Holst seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Adkins, Giarusso, Hartley, 
Holst, Leeper, Oberle, Saul and Wingert), and 0 nays. 

 
Discussion   
12/12/18 

 Acting Chair Holst introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background 
information. She explained that staff is bringing forward an interim solution to clarify 
the parking requirements for mixed-use buildings. She noted that the City is 
planning to do a parking study in the College Hill area to help establish the parking 
needs that can be used to officially update the code. Ms. Howard discussed the 
costs of setting aside land for parking. She also spoke to the plan to delete 
ambiguous and confusing language in the code with regard to mixed-use buildings. 
Staff recommends adding a definition for a mixed-use building and then adding a 
parking requirement for residential dwelling units within a mixed-use building. As a 
starting point, staff suggests one parking space per bedroom and eliminating the 
visitor parking requirement. To provide a level playing field for multiple dwelling 
buildings, staff recommends adopted the same requirement. Staff notes the 
importance of making sure the parking requirements are not set too high. After the 
parking study is completed, there may be a need to adjust the requirement again. 
Staff also recommends deleting the ambiguous language regarding principal, 
secondary, and accessory use as it relates to mixed-use buildings and the parking 
requirements. Language was also added to establish building design standards for 
the mixed-use buildings that address safe and prominent building entries, quality 
storefront design and standards for high quality materials. These standards are 
consistent with the standards already in the code related to design review in the 
College Hill Overlay and are consistent with the storefront design standards recently 
adopted for mixed-use storefront buildings in the Downtown Overlay. It is also 

329



proposed to clean up terms used for different types of dwellings to match the 
definitions in Section 29-2 of the code. 

 
 Staff recommends discussion of the proposed amendments and setting a date for 

public hearing at the January 9, 2019 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. 
Ms. Saul asked when the parking study will be done. Ms. Howard answered that the 
decision is up to City Council, but the idea is to review the results of the downtown 
study and then consider conducting a similar study in College Hill soon thereafter. 
Mr. Hartley clarified that the code amendments being discussed just apply to the 
College Hill Overlay, not downtown. Ms. Howard confirmed that is the case. 

 
 Mr. Wingert asked about the process of making any additional changes to parking 

requirements after the parking study. Ms. Howard discussed the process. Mr. 
Leeper asked about the timing on the current and future code amendments. Ms. 
Howard stated that is up to the Commission to decide when to move the current 
proposed amendments forward to the City Council for consideration. Mr. Leeper 
asked what happens if someone wants to rehab an upper space in an existing 
property on College Hill. Ms. Howard noted that existing dwelling units would be 
grandfathered with no parking required. If new space is being added or converted to 
residential, they would have to provide parking according to the Code. She noted 
that there are options that could be explored to exempt upper floor space from the 
parking requirements. Staff could bring something back at the next meeting for the 
Commission to consider in this regard. Ms. Saul asked what happens when tenants 
don’t have ample parking and where they can park.  

 
 Brent Dahlstrom stated that he feels this is an amicable discussion and that there is 

work being done to find a balance, but feels that College Hill needs redevelopment. 
He noted that the floodplain is being updated within the city and suggested using the 
areas that will be in the floodplain for parking lots.  

 
 Eashaan Vajpeyi stated that he supports the project but wants to see the code 

changed before reviewing the projects. He asked that the code be amended to 
reflect the development changes that have been coming forward. 

 
 Brian Sires stated that he feels that there is some discrepancy in the commercial 

and residential uses. He also noted that studios and one bedroom units are typically 
shared by a couple to keep costs down and that isn’t counting visitors. He feels that 
there should be 1.5 stalls per one bedroom to accommodate the parking 
appropriately.  

 
 Ryan Kriener, 4407 Donald Drive, stated that the area isn’t just for college students. 

They are intending to make it a vibrant area for everyone. He asked that the 
Commission keep that in consideration when making the changes. 

 
 Kamyar Enshayan asked the Commission to recommend to City Council to do the 

parking study immediately. He noted that the College Hill Partnership has also sent 
a letter to Council asking the same.  

 
 Andy Fuchtman stated that redevelopment has not been happening very quickly on 

the Hill and there have been some that have been skeptical about whether starting a 
business on College Hill was a good idea, but that there are those that have taken 

330



the chance and want things to move in a positive direction. He stated that Sidecar 
Coffee has been a success.  

 
 There was further Commission discussion with regard to potential changes to the 

code. Staff will bring back verbiage for exemptions in existing buildings and will be 
presented at public hearing on January 9, 2019. 

   
Discussion 
1/09/19  

The first item of business was Zoning Code Text Amendments – Proposed changes to 
Section 29-160, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District to define and clarify 
standards for mixed-use buildings. Acting Chair Holst introduced the item and Ms. 
Howard provided background information. She explained that a public notice was 
published in the Waterloo Courier and it has been entered into public record. She went 
on to discuss the goals of the amendments. The primary goal is to clear up the 
ambiguous and confusing language in the College Hill Overlay District and establish 
clear and objective standards in the code to facilitate consistent review and approval of 
proposed development.  The changes are intended to further the existing 
Comprehensive Plan goals for the College Hill Neighborhood, including improvement of 
pedestrian access, spurring local development of more mixed-use storefronts with 
apartment dwellings above and to link the “Upper Hill” and the “Lower Hill” along College 
Street into a more cohesive, walkable area. She noted that there will likely be an 
upcoming study of public parking in College Hill, so the proposed zoning amendments 
may need to be adjusted after the parking study is completed. She also discussed the 
hidden costs of setting aside too much land for private off-street parking. As requested 
by the Commission after conflicting opinions about the interpretation of the zoning 
ordinance for several previous development requests, staff is recommending to delete 
ambiguous and confusing language in the code regarding principal and secondary uses, 
define mixed use buildings and establish parking standards for residential dwelling units 
within a mixed-use building. In addition, staff is recommending to establish building 
design standards for mixed-use buildings that address safe and prominent building 
entries, quality storefront design and standard for high quality building materials and 
building articulation to match what is required for multiple dwellings within the College 
Hill Overlay. There would also be some minor clean-up on the terms used for different 
types of dwellings to match Section 29-2, Definitions. Staff recommends approval of the 
proposed zoning code amendments. 

Jerry Geisler, 4412 S. Hudson Road, stated that he did not get his paperwork in to the 
Commission in time to be a part of the record, but at the last meeting it was mentioned 
that a lot of the students come from middle income families and are looking for a 
cheaper place to live. He noted that in his experience the students want to have the 
maximum amount of tenants in a unit to keep costs down, but they also all have 
vehicles. He feels that parking requirements should be more than one vehicle per 
bedroom to accommodate the added tenants. 

Mr. Sturch noted that there are letters that were submitted and given to the Commission 
after the packets were compiled. 

Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane, feels there is a distinct difference between any 
preliminary parking studies in the downtown area, where the developments are more 
expensive and tenants have higher incomes and fewer vehicles, and the parking 
situation on the Hill. He mentioned a survey of landlords of college students that showed 
that 98% of the students own cars. The students will typically walk to class from their 
apartment, leaving their cars parked in the available spaces during the day. This does 
not allow much turnover for commercial/visitor parking. He stated his opinion that city 

331



parking is not there for residents of developers to capture and use for their purposes. 
Mr. Vajpeyi recited a quote from Maggie Miller, former director of government relations 
for University of Northern Iowa. “Every student I know that lives off campus owns a car. 
There’s really not a way to live in this city without a car. We’ve had a problem with 
Urban Flats.” He stated that the Urban Flats project was passed through with the 
agreement that the students were to buy a UNI parking pass, however there was no 
verification in place and there is only one lot where a 24 hour pass can be purchased. 
He feels a study needs to be done before another project like that is approved. 

Kamyar Enshayan, 1703 Washington Street, board member of the College Hill 
Partnership, stated that a letter of support of the change was sent to the Commission. 
The Partnership’s goal is to encourage vitality, walkability and bike-ability on the Hill and 
they feel that the change is a reasonable step forward. 

Dan Drendel, Slingshot Architecture, stated that he is in support of what staff is 
recommending and appreciates the Commission’s work to remove ambiguity from the 
code. He feels this is a good interim step until the parking study is completed.  

Brian Sires, 1939 College Street, agreed with the majority of the comments made. He 
stated that College Hill will change over time and he encourages the Commission to 
create adequate parking for the future to accommodate those changes.  

 Ryan Kriener, 4487 Donald Drive, asked about an opportunity for using remote, off-site 
parking to serve the needs of residents and whether that would be added to the code. 
Ms. Howard stated that this is an option that could be considered with the larger parking 
study and future code amendments. 

 Becky Hawbaker, 2309 College Street, commented that the Hill is changing and bringing 
more variety. As a resident of the area, she feels that density should be built to create 
walkable neighborhoods. As new businesses are coming in, there is less of a need for 
students to drive. 

 Mr. Leeper made a motion to approve. Mr. Wingert seconded the motion.  

 Mr. Leeper understands the parking concerns but feels that the increased density and 
walkability is a good goal. 

Ms. Giarusso stated that she feels that the parking study should include the University of 
Northern Iowa. She feels that there may be students who don’t drive often or at all and 
may be willing to park further from their residences as they walk to classes. 

Ms. Saul feels that the study should be done before any changes are made.  

Mr. Hartley likes the change and feels it provides a measured solution in the interim until 
completion of the study. 

Mr. Holst supports the parking study for gathering information.  

Ms. Adkins asked about the timeframe for the study. Howard responded that there has 
not been a specific timeline determined at this time.  

The motion was approved with 4 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Leeper and Wingert), and 3 nays 
(Adkins, Giarusso and Saul). 

 

332



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 29-160, CHN, 
COLLEGE HILL NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 
2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 29, ZONING OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (Case # TA19-001) 

 
WHEREAS, it is the purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District to 

regulate development and land uses within the College Hill Neighborhood and to provide 
guidance for building and site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential 
and business districts in a manner that complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, 
promotes community vitality and safety, and strengthens commercial enterprise; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments add a definition of “mixed-use building” and establish 

standards for said mixed-use buildings, including parking requirements and building design 
standards to encourage new development and revitalization of the College Hill business district 
and areas immediately adjacent to the University of Northern Iowa campus; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments delete ambiguous language from the College Hill Overlay 

Zoning District standards that have created uncertainty in the market and in the community 
regarding parking requirements for upper floor residential dwelling units within mixed-use buildings;  

 
WHEREAS, these amendments provide consistency between the parking requirements for 

mixed-use buildings in the C-3 (College Hill Business District) and multiple dwelling buildings in the 
R-3 and R-4 Zoning Districts located within the College Hill Overlay District;  

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed changes to the 

ordinance and recommends approval; and now, therefore:  
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 

333



 2 

 
A. Section 29-160, CHN, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of Division 2, Specific 
Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 29, Zoning is hereby repealed 
in its entirety and the following Section 29-160, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 
Sec. 29-160. - CHN, College Hill Neighborhood overlay zoning district.  

General Regulations  

(a) Boundaries. The College Hill Neighborhood zoning district (CHN District) boundaries are shown in the 
College Hill Neighborhood Master Plan and legally described in Attachment A. (Said attachment is not 
set out at length herein but is on file in the office of the city planner.)  

(b) Purpose and intent: The purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood overlay zoning district is to regulate 
development and land uses within the College Hill Neighborhood and to provide guidance for building 
and site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential and business districts in a 
manner that complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, promotes community vitality and 
safety and strengthens commercial enterprise. New structures, including certain types of fences, certain 
modifications to existing structures and certain site improvements and site maintenance shall conform 
to this section.  

The provisions of this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district regulations 

and requirements in which the land may be classified. In the case of conflict, the most restrictive 

provisions shall govern unless otherwise expressly provided in this section.  

(c) Definitions.  

(1) Bedroom: A room unit intended for sleeping purposes containing at least 70 square feet of floor 
space for each occupant. Neither closets nor any part of a room where the ceiling height is less 
than five feet shall be considered when computing floor area.  

(2)  Change in use: Change in use shall include residential uses changed from single-unit to two-unit or 
two-unit to multi-unit or to any increase in residential intensity within a structure (i.e. change from 
duplex to fraternity house). The term shall also apply to changes in use classifications (i.e. 
residential to commercial).  

(3) Fraternity/sorority: Residential facilities provided for college students and sponsored by university 
affiliated student associations. Such facilities may contain individual or common sleeping areas 
and bathroom facilities but shall provide common kitchen, dining, and lounging areas. Such 
facilities may contain more than one unit.  

(4) Greenway: Open landscaped area maintained for floodplain protection, stormwater management 
and public access. Such area may contain pedestrian walkways or bicycle pathways but is not 
intended for regular or seasonal usage by motorized recreational vehicles.  

(5) Landscaped area: An area not subject to vehicular traffic, which consists of living landscape 
material including grass, trees and shrubbery.  

(6) Lot split, property transfer: Not a subdivision plat where a new lot is being created; includes any 
transfer of small segments of property or premises between two abutting properties, whether 
commonly owned or owned by separate parties, where one property (the "sending property") is 
dedicating or deeding additional land to another abutting property (the "receiving property."[)]  

334



 3 

(7)  Mixed-Use Building: A building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two different uses. Uses 
generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, personal services) are typically 
located on the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses generating limited pedestrian activity 
(such as office or residential uses) are typically located on upper floors or behind street-fronting 
commercial uses.  

(8) Neighborhood character: The College Hill Neighborhood area is one of Cedar Falls' oldest and 
most densely populated neighborhoods. As the University of Northern Iowa has grown the original 
single-unit residential neighborhood surrounding the campus area has been transformed into a 
mixture of single-unit, duplex and multiple unit dwelling units along with a few institutional uses and 
other university-related uses such as fraternities and sorority houses. These various uses are 
contained in a variety of underlying zoning districts (i.e. R-2, R-3, R-4, Residential and C-3, 
commercial districts). Architectural styles vary significantly among existing building structures while 
differing land uses and building types are permitted in different zoning districts. When references 
are made in this ordinance to preservation of neighborhood character, uniformity of building scale, 
size, bulk and unusual or widely varying appearance are of primary concern regardless of the 
nature of the proposed building use.  

New construction, including significant improvements to existing structures, shall be of a character 
that respects and complements existing neighborhood development. The following variables or 
criteria shall be used in determining whether a newly proposed construction or building renovation 
is in keeping with the character of the neighborhood:  

a. Overall bulk/size of the building;  

b. Overall height of the building;  

c. Number of proposed dwelling units in comparison to surrounding properties;  

d. Lot density (lot area divided by number of dwelling units);  

e. Off-street parking provision;  

f. Architectural compatibility with surrounding buildings.  

(9) Parking area: That portion of a parcel of land that is improved and designated or commonly used 
for the parking of one or more motor vehicles.  

(10) Parking lot: That area improved and designated or commonly used for the parking of three or more 
vehicles.  

(11) Parking space, also parking stall: An area measuring at least nine feet wide and 19 feet long for all 
commercial, institutional or manufacturing uses or eight feet wide and 18 feet long for residential 
uses only, connected to a public street or alley by a driveway not less than ten feet wide, and so 
arranged as to permit ingress and egress of motor vehicles without moving any other vehicle 
parked adjacent to the parking space.  

(12) Premises: A lot, plot or parcel of land including all structures thereon. 

(13)Residential Building:  Any building that is designed and/or used exclusively for residential purposes, 
but not including a tent, cabin or travel trailer.  

(14) Residential conversion: The alteration or modification of a residential structure that will result in an 
increase in the number of rooming units or dwelling units within the residential structure. The 
addition or creation of additional rooms within an existing rooming unit or dwelling unit does not 
constitute a residential conversion.  

335



 4 

(15) Structural alteration: Any alteration, exterior or interior that alters the exterior dimension of the 
structure. This provision shall apply to residential, commercial and institutional uses including 
churches or religious institutions.  

(16) Substantial improvement: Any new construction within the district or any renovation of an existing 
structure, including the following:  

a. Any increase in floor area or increased external dimension of a residential or commercial 
structure. Additional bedrooms proposed in an existing duplex or multi-unit residence shall be 
considered a substantial improvement. Bedroom additions to single-unit residences shall not 
be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

b. Any modification of the exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or removing 
exterior windows or doors. Repair or replacement of existing windows or doors which does not 
result in any change in the size, number or location of said windows and doors shall not be 
considered to be a substantial improvement.  

c. Any structural alteration that increases the number of bedrooms or dwelling units. Interior room 
additions, including bedroom additions, may be made to single-unit residential structures 
without requiring additional on-site parking.  

d. All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing facade 
materials on residential or commercial structures. Routine repair and replacement of existing 
siding materials with the same or similar siding materials on existing structures shall be 
exempt from these regulations.  

e. Any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar projections over public sidewalk 
areas.  

f. Any increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of existing roof pitch or 
appearance. Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials that do not materially 
change or affect the appearance, shape or configuration of the existing roof shall not be 
considered a substantial improvement.  

g. Any construction of a detached accessory structure measuring more than 300 sq. ft. in base 
floor area for a residential or commercial principal use.  

h. Any increase in area of any existing parking area or parking lot or any new construction of a 
parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or parking lot contains or is 
designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more parking stalls.  

i. Any proposed property boundary fence, which utilizes unusual fencing materials such as 
stones, concrete blocks, logs, steel beams or similar types of atypical or unusual fence 
materials. Standard chain link fences, wooden or vinyl privacy fences shall be exempt from 
these provisions.  

j. Demolition and removal of an entire residential, commercial or institutional structure on a 
property shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

(d) Administrative review.  

(1) Applicability. The provisions of this section shall constitute the requirements for all premises and 
properties that lie within the boundaries of the College Hill Neighborhood overlay zoning district. 
This section and the requirements stated herein shall apply to all new construction, change in use, 
structural alterations, substantial improvements or site improvements including:  

a. Any substantial improvement to any residential, commercial or institutional structure, including 
churches.  

336



 5 

b. Any new construction, change in use, residential conversion or structural alteration, as defined 
herein, for any structure.  

c. Any new building structure including single-unit residences.  

(2) In the case of emergency repairs required as the result of unanticipated building or facade 
damages due to events such as fire, vandalism, flooding or weather-related damages, site plan 
review by the planning and zoning commission and the city council will not be required for 
completion of said emergency repairs, provided that the extent of damages and cost of said repairs 
are less than 50 percent of the value of the structure. However, said emergency repairs along with 
cost estimates related to the extent of building structural damages shall be verified by the city 
planner in conjunction with the city building inspector. Said emergency repairs, to the extent 
possible, shall repair and re-establish the original appearance of the structure. In the event that 
said emergency repairs result in dramatic alteration of the exterior appearance of the structure as 
determined by the city planner, the owner of the property shall make permanent repairs or 
renovations that re-establish the original appearance of the structure with respect to facade 
features, window and door sizes, locations and appearances of said windows and doors within six 
months following completion of said emergency repairs. Said emergency repairs shall not alter the 
number, size or configuration of pre-existing rooms, bedrooms or dwelling units within the 
structure.  

(3) Submittal requirements. Applicants for any new construction, change in use, structural alteration, 
facade alteration, residential conversion, substantial improvement, parking lot construction or 
building enlargement shall submit to the city planning division an application accompanied by such 
additional information and documentation as shall be deemed appropriate by the city planner in 
order for the planning division to properly review the application. The required application for any 
project may include one or more of the following elements depending upon the nature of the 
application proposal. Some applications will require submittal of more information than other types 
of applications. The city planner will advise the applicant which of these items need to be submitted 
with each application with the goal of providing sufficient information so that decision makers can 
make an informed decision on each application.  

a. Written description of building proposal, whether a new structure, facade improvement, 
parking lot improvement, building addition, etc. The name and address of the property owner 
and property developer (if different) must be provided.  

b. Building floor plans;  

c. Building materials;  

d. Dimensions of existing and proposed exterior building "footprint";  

e. Facade details/exterior rendering of the structure being modified, description of proposed 
building design elements including but not limited to building height, roof design, number and 
location of doors and windows and other typical facade details;  

f. Property boundaries, existing and proposed building setbacks;  

g. Parking lot location, setbacks, parking stall locations and dimensions along with parking lot 
screening details;  

h. Lot area and lot width measurements with explanation if any portion of an adjacent lot or 
property is being transferred to the property under consideration;  

i. Open green space areas and proposed landscaping details with schedule for planting new 
landscaping materials;  

j. Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas;  

337



 6 

k. Storm water detention/management plans.  

Following submittal of the appropriate application materials as determined by the city planner, said 
application materials shall be reviewed by the City of Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 
Commission and the City Council to determine if the submittal meets all ordinance requirements 
and conforms to the standards of the comprehensive plan, recognized principles of civic design, 
land use planning and landscape architecture. The commission may recommend and the city 
council may approve the application as submitted, may deny the application, or may require the 
applicant to modify, alter, adjust or amend the application as deemed necessary to the end that it 
preserves the intent and purpose of this section to promote the public health, safety and general 
welfare.  

(e) District requirements and criteria for review.  

(1) Minimum on-site parking requirements. If different from the underlying base zone, the following 
requirements shall govern.  

a. Single-unit Dwelling: Two parking stalls per dwelling.  

b.  Single-unit Dwelling, renter-occupied: Two parking stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional 
parking stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms.  

c. Two-unit Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling units plus one additional stall for each bedroom in 
each dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms.  

d. Multiple Dwelling: One stall per bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling unit.  

e. Commercial and Mixed-Use Buildings: No parking required for non-residential uses. For 
dwelling units within mixed-use buildings, one parking stall per bedroom, but not less than one 
stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-use buildings constructed prior to January 
1, 2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use and 
commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper 
floor space that is converted to residential use.  

f. Boardinghouse/rooming house: Five stalls plus one stall for every guest room in excess of four 
guest rooms.  

g. Fraternity/sorority: Five parking stalls plus one stall for every two residents in excess of four 
residents.  

h. Where fractional spaces result, the number required shall be the next higher whole number.  

i. Bicycle accommodations: All new multi-unit residential facilities are encouraged to provide for 
the establishment of bicycle racks of a size appropriate for the anticipated residential 
occupancy of the facility. A general suggested bike parking standard is 2 bike stalls per 
residential unit. For commercial projects, if lot area is available, bike racks are encouraged to 
be installed in conjunction with the commercial project.  

(2) Parking lot standards:  

a. All newly constructed or expanded parking lots (three or more parking stalls) shall be hard 
surfaced with concrete or asphalt, provided with a continuous curb, be set back a minimum 
five feet from adjacent property lines or public right-of-way with the exception of alleyways, in 
which case a three foot permeable setback will be required, and otherwise conform to all 
parking guidelines as specified in this section and in section 29-177 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
Alternative parking lot surfaces may be considered to the extent that such surfaces provide 
adequate storm water absorption rates, subject to city engineering review and approval, while 
providing an acceptable surface material and finished appearance. Gravel or crushed asphalt 

338



 7 

parking lots will not be permitted. However, other types of ecologically sensitive parking lot 
designs will be encouraged and evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  

b. Landscaping in parking lots shall be classified as either internal or peripheral. The following 
coverage requirements shall pertain to each classification:  

1. Peripheral landscaping. All parking lots containing three (3) or more parking spaces shall 
provide peripheral landscaping. Peripheral landscaping shall consist of a landscaped strip 
not less than five feet in width, exclusive of vehicular obstruction, and shall be located 
between the parking area and the abutting property lines. One tree for each 25 lineal feet 
of such landscaping barrier or fractional part thereof shall be planted in the landscaping 
strip. At least one tree shall be planted for every parking lot (such as a 3-stall parking lot) 
regardless of the lineal feet calculation. In addition to tree plantings, the perimeter of the 
parking lot shall be screened with shrubbery or similar plantings at least 3 feet in height as 
measured from the finished grade of the parking lot at the time of planting for purposes of 
vehicular screening. The vegetative screen should present a continuous, effective visual 
screen adjacent to the parking lot for purposes of partially obscuring vehicles and also 
deflecting glare from headlights. If landscaped berms are utilized, the berm and vegetative 
screening must achieve at least a 3-foot tall screen at time of installation as measured 
from the grade of the finished parking lot. Each such planting area shall be landscaped 
with grass, ground cover or other landscape material excluding paving, gravel, crushed 
asphalt or similar materials, in addition to the required trees, shrubbery, hedges or other 
planting material. Existing landscaping upon abutting property shall not be used to satisfy 
the requirements for said parking lot screening requirements unless the abutting land use 
is a parking lot.  

2. Exceptions:  

(a) Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for single-unit or two-unit residential 
structures where the primary parking area is designed around a standard front 
entrance driveway and/or attached or detached residential garage. However, if an 
open surface parking lot containing three (3) or more parking stalls is established in 
the rear yard of a two-unit residential structure, the perimeter landscaping/screening 
requirements as specified herein shall apply.  

(b) Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for parking lots that are established 
behind building structures where the parking lots do not have any public street or 
alley frontage or is not adjacent to any open properties such as private yards, parks 
or similar open areas. Examples of such a parking lot would be one designed with a 
multiple unit apartment facility where the parking lot is encircled with building 
structures within the project site and where the parking lot is completely obscured 
from public view by building structures.  

(c) Underground or under-building parking lots.  

(d) Above-ground parking ramps shall provide perimeter screening as specified herein 
around the ground level perimeter of the parking structure.  

3. Internal landscaping. All parking lots measuring 21 parking stalls or more shall be required 
to landscape the interior of such parking lot. At least one over-story tree shall be 
established for every 21 parking stalls. Each tree shall be provided sufficient open planting 
area necessary to sustain full growth of the tree. Not less than five percent of the 
proposed paved area of the interior of the parking lot shall be provided as open space, 
excluding the tree planting areas. These additional open space areas must be planted 
with bushes, grasses or similar vegetative materials. Each separate open green space 

339



 8 

area shall contain a minimum of 40 square feet and shall have a minimum width 
dimension of a least five feet.  

4. Exceptions: Internal landscaping shall not be required for vehicular storage lots, 
trucking/warehousing lots or for automobile sales lots. However, perimeter 
landscaping/screening provisions, as specified herein, shall be required for all such 
parking areas when they are installed or enlarged in area.  

5. Parking Garages or Parking Ramps: All such facilities where one or more levels are 
established for parking either below ground or above ground and where structural walls 
provide for general screening of parked vehicles, internal landscaping shall not be 
provided.  

6. It is the intent of this regulation that in parking development sites open green space and 
landscape areas should be distributed throughout the parking development site rather 
than isolated in one area or around the perimeter of the parking lot. Trees and shrubs 
planted within parking areas shall be protected by concrete curbs and provide adequate 
permeable surface area to promote growth and full maturity of said vegetation.  

c. Parking stalls must provide a minimum separation of four feet from the exterior walls of any 
principal structure on the property as measured from the vehicle (including vehicular 
overhang) to the nearest wall of the structure. No vehicular parking stall shall be so oriented or 
positioned as to block or obstruct any point of egress from a structure, including doorways or 
egress windows.  

d. No portion of required front or side yards in any residential (R) zoning district shall be used for 
the establishment of any parking space, parking area, or parking lot, except for those 
driveways serving a single unit or two-unit residence. For all other uses, a single driveway no 
more than 18 feet in width may be established across the required front and side yards, 
provided that side yard driveway setbacks are observed, as an access to designated rear yard 
parking areas.  

e. When a driveway or access off a public street no longer serves its original purpose as access 
to a garage or parking lot due to redevelopment of the property or is replaced with an 
alternative parking lot or parking arrangement with an alternate route of access, the original 
driveway access shall be re-curbed by the owner at the owner's expense and the parking/ 
driveway area shall be returned to open green space with grass plantings or other similar 
landscaping materials.  

f. Routine maintenance of existing parking areas and parking lots, including resurfacing of said 
areas with similar materials or with hard surfacing will be permitted without requiring review by 
the planning and zoning commission and city council, provided that no increase in area of said 
existing parking area or parking lot, or any new construction of a parking area or parking lot, 
which existing or new parking area or parking lot contains or is designed to potentially 
accommodate a total of three or more parking stalls, occurs. Any newly paved or hard 
surfaced parking lot, excluding those existing hard surface parking lots that are merely being 
resurfaced, must satisfy minimum required setbacks from the property line or alley and must 
provide a continuous curb around the perimeter of said improved parking lot. Hard surfacing of 
any existing unpaved parking area or parking lot will require an evaluation by the city 
engineering division regarding increased storm water run-off/possible storm water detention.  

(3) Storm water drainage:  

a. Storm water detention requirements as outlined in City Code Section 27-405 and in Section 
29-87 of the Zoning Ordinance shall apply to all newly developed parking lots and new building 

340



 9 

uses. In addition, said requirements shall apply to any existing parking lot that is resurfaced, 
reconstructed or enlarged subject to review by the city engineer. In those cases where no 
municipal storm sewer is readily available to serve a particular property or development site, 
the use of the property will be limited. The maximum allowable use that shall be permitted on 
any particular property or development site which is not served by a municipal storm sewer 
shall be limited to the following uses in Residential zoning districts: a parking lot; a single-unit 
residence; a two-unit residence; or a multi-unit residence. Provided, however, that the 
applicant shall be required to submit calculations, which shall be subject to review and 
approval by the city engineering division, that verify that the total impervious surface area on 
the particular property or development site that will exist immediately following completion of 
the proposed new development shall be no greater than the total impervious surface area on 
the particular property or development site that existed immediately prior to the proposed new 
development.  

b. Soil erosion control: At the time of new site development, including parking lot construction, 
soil erosion control measures must be installed on the site in conformance with city 
engineering standards. Said soil erosion measures must be maintained until the site is 
stabilized to the satisfaction of the city engineering division.  

(4) Open space/landscaping requirements:  

a. Principal permitted uses within the district shall provide minimum building setbacks as required 
in the zoning ordinance. With the exception of construction periods said required front and side 
setback areas (required yards) shall be maintained with natural vegetative materials and shall 
not be obstructed with any temporary or permanent structure, on-site vehicular parking 
including trailers or recreational vehicles, nor disturbed by excavations, holes, pits or 
established recreational areas that produce bare spots in the natural vegetation.  

b. Driveways measuring no more than 18 feet in width, sidewalks and pedestrian access ways 
measuring no more than six feet in width may be established across the required front and 
side yard areas.  

c. All newly constructed office or institutional buildings in the R-3 or R-4 districts and all newly 
constructed single unit dwellings, two-unit dwellings, or multiple dwellings in residential or 
commercial districts shall provide on-site landscaping within the required yard areas or in other 
green space areas of the property at the rate of 0.04 points per square foot of total lot area of 
the site under consideration for the proposed residential development or improvement. 
Landscaping shall consist of any combination of trees and shrubbery, subject to review and 
approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. In addition to these 
requirements, parking lot plantings and/or screening must be provided as specified herein. 
Plantings must be established within one year following issuance of a building permit. This 
provision shall not apply to commercial or mixed-use buildings established in the C-3, 
commercial district.  

d. Measured compliance: The following landscaping point schedule applies to required 
landscaping in all zoning districts within the College Hill Neighborhood overlay district with the 
exception of commercial uses in the C-3 commercial business district, and shall be used in 
determining achieved points for required plantings. The points are to be assigned to plant 
sizes at time of planting/installation.  

Over-Story Trees:  
 

4-inch caliper or greater  100 points  

3-inch caliper to 4-inch caliper  90 points  

341



 10 

2-inch caliper to 3-inch caliper  80 points  

1-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  60 points  

  

Under-Story Trees:  
 

2-inch caliper or greater  40 points  

1½-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  30 points  

1-inch to 1½-inch caliper  20 points  

  

Shrubs:  
 

5-gallon or greater  10 points  

2-gallon to 5-gallon  5 points  

  

Conifers:  
 

10-foot height or greater  100 points  

8-foot to 10-foot height  90 points  

6-foot to 8-foot height  80 points  

5-foot to 6-foot height  40 points  

4-foot to 5-foot height  30 points  

3-foot to 4-foot height  20 points  

  

(5) Fences/retaining walls:  

a. Fences shall be permitted on properties in accordance with the height and location 
requirements outlined in section 29-86 of the Zoning Ordinance. Zoning/land use permits shall 
be required for fences erected within the district.  

b. Any existing fence or freestanding wall that is, in the judgment of the building inspector, 
structurally unsound and a hazard to adjoining property shall be removed upon the order of the 
building inspector.  

c. Retaining walls may be installed on property as a measure to control soil erosion or storm 
water drainage. However, said retaining walls shall be permitted only after review and 
approval by the city engineer.  

(6) Detached accessory structures. All newly constructed detached accessory structures or 
expansions of existing detached accessory structures exceeding 300 sq. ft. in base floor area 

342



 11 

proposed to be situated on residential or commercial properties shall be subject to review and 
approval by the planning and zoning commission and city council. Maximum allowable building 
height, size and location requirements for accessory structures as specified in section 29-115 shall 
apply. In addition to those standards, proposed detached accessory structures or expanded 
structures larger than 300 sq. ft. in area shall be designed in such a manner as to be consistent 
with the architectural style of the principal residential or commercial structure on the property. 
Similar building materials, colors, roof lines, roof pitch and roofing materials shall be established on 
the accessory structure to match as closely as possible those elements on the principal structure. 
In addition, vertical steel siding along with "metal pole barn" type construction shall not be allowed.  

(7) No existing single-unit residential structure in the R-2 district shall be converted or otherwise 
structurally altered in a manner that will result in the creation or potential establishment of a second 
dwelling unit within the structure.  

(8) No two-unit dwelling or multiple dwelling shall add dwelling units or bedrooms to any dwelling unit 
without satisfying minimum on-site parking requirements. If additional parking spaces are required, 
the entire parking area must satisfy parking lot development standards as specified herein.  

(9) No portion of an existing parcel of land or lot or plot shall be split, subdivided or transferred to 
another abutting lot or parcel for any purpose without prior review and approval by the city planning 
and zoning commission and the city council. Land cannot be transferred or split from one lot or 
property to be transferred to another for purposes of benefiting the "receiving" property while 
diminishing the minimum required lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setback area of the 
"sending" property. Such lot transfer or split shall not create a nonconforming lot by virtue of 
reduction of minimum required lot area, lot width or reduction of minimum required building or 
parking lot setbacks. Said lot transfer or split shall not affect any existing nonconforming property 
by further reducing any existing nonconforming element of the lot or property including lot area, lot 
width or building or parking lot setbacks in order to benefit another abutting property for 
development purposes. This provision shall not apply to those instances where separate lots or 
properties are being assembled for purposes of new building construction where existing structures 
on the assembled lots will be removed in order to accommodate new building construction.  

(10) Site plan revisions/amendments: All changes, modifications, revisions and amendments made to 
development site plans that are deemed to be major or substantial by the city planner shall be 
resubmitted to the planning and zoning commission in the same manner as originally required in 
this section. Examples of major or substantial changes shall include but are not limited to changes 
in building location, building size, property size, parking arrangements, enlarged or modified 
parking lots, open green space or landscaping modifications, setback areas or changes in building 
design elements.  

(11) Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas must be clearly marked and established on all site plans 
associated with new development or redevelopment projects. No required parking area or required 
parking stalls shall be encumbered by a trash disposal area.  

a. Large commercial refuse dumpsters and recycling bins serving residential or commercial uses 
shall be located in areas of the property that are not readily visible from public streets. No such 
dumpster or bin shall be established within the public right of way. All dumpsters and bins shall 
be affixed with a solid lid covering and shall be screened for two purposes: (1) visual 
screening; and (2) containing dispersal of loose trash due to over-filling. Screening materials 
shall match or be complementary to the prevailing building materials.  

(f) Design review. Any new construction, building additions, facade renovations or structural alterations to 
commercial or residential structures, or substantial improvements to single-unit residences that, in the 
judgment of the city planner, substantially alters the exterior appearance or character of permitted 

343



 12 

structures shall require review and approval by the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission and 
City Council.  

(1) Criteria for review:  

a. Applications involving building design review. Neighborhood character, as herein defined, shall 
be considered in all.  

b. The architectural character, materials, textures of all buildings or building additions shall be 
compatible with those primary design elements on structures located on adjoining properties 
and also in consideration of said design elements commonly utilized on other nearby 
properties on the same block or within the immediate neighborhood.  

c. Comparable scale and character in relation to adjoining properties and other nearby properties 
in the immediate neighborhood shall be maintained by reviewing features such as:  

1. Maintaining similar roof pitch.  

2. Maintaining similar building height, building scale and building proportion.  

3. Use of materials comparable and similar to other buildings on nearby properties in the 
immediate neighborhood.  

d. Mandated second entrances or fire escapes established above grade shall not extend into the 
required front yard area.  

e. Existing entrances and window openings on the front facades and side yard facades facing 
public streets shall be maintained in the same general location and at the same general scale 
as original openings or be consistent with neighboring properties.  

f. Projects involving structural improvements or facade renovations to existing structures must 
provide structural detail and ornamentation that is consistent with the underlying design of the 
original building.  

g. The primary front entrances of all residential buildings shall face toward the public street. 
Street frontage wall spaces shall provide visual relief to large blank wall areas with the use of 
windows or doorways and other architectural ornamentation.  

(2) Building entrances for multiple dwellings. Main entrances should be clearly demarcated by one of 
the following:  

a. Covered porch or canopy.  

b. Pilaster and pediment.  

c. Other significant architectural treatment that emphasizes the main entrance. Simple "trim" 
around the doorway does not satisfy this requirement.  

(3) Building scale for multiple dwellings. Street facing walls that are greater than 50 feet in length shall 
be articulated with bays, projections or alternating recesses according to the following suggested 
guidelines:  

a. Bays and projections should be at least 6 feet in width and at least 16 inches, but not more 
than 6 feet, in depth. Recesses should be at least 6 feet in width and have a depth of at least 
16 inches.  

b. The bays, projections and recesses should have corresponding changes in roofline or, 
alternatively, should be distinguished by a corresponding change in some architectural 
elements of the building such as roof dormers, alternating exterior wall materials, a change in 

344



 13 

window patterns, the addition of balconies, variation in the building or parapet height or 
variation in architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals or stone accents.  

(4) Building scale for commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. The width of the front façade of 
new commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be no more than 40 feet. Buildings may exceed this 
limitation if the horizontal plane of any street-facing façade of a building is broken into modules that 
give the appearance or illusion of smaller, individual buildings. Each module should satisfy the 
following suggested guidelines that give the appearance of separate, individual buildings:  

a. Each module should be no greater than 30 feet and no less than 10 feet in width and should 
be distinguished from adjacent modules by variation in the wall plane of at least 16 inches 
depth. For buildings 3 or more stories in height the width module may be increased to 40 feet.  

b. Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of separate 
architectural identity.  

c. Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of the following 
means:  

1. Variation in material colors, types, textures  

2. Variation in the building and/or parapet height  

3. Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, stones or tile 
accent  

4. Variation in window pattern  

5. Variation in the use of balconies and recesses.  

(5) Balconies and exterior walkways, corridors and lifts serving multi-unit residences.  

a. Exterior stairways refer to stairways that lead to floors and dwelling units of a building above 
the first or ground level floor of a building. Exterior corridors refer to unenclosed corridors 
located above the first floor or ground level floor of a building. Balconies and exterior 
stairways, exterior corridors and exterior lifts must comply with the following:  

1. Materials must generally match or be complementary to the building materials utilized on 
that portion of a building where the exterior corridor or balcony is established.  

2. Unpainted wooden materials are expressly prohibited.  

3. Stained or painted wood materials may only be utilized if said material and coloration is 
guaranteed for long term wear and the material is compatible with the principal building 
materials on that portion of the building where the exterior corridor is established.  

4. The design of any balcony, exterior stairway, exterior lift or exterior corridor must utilize 
columns, piers, supports, walls and railings that are designed and constructed of materials 
that are similar or complementary to the design and materials used on that portion of the 
building where the feature is established.  

5. Exterior stairways, exterior lifts, corridors and balconies must be covered with a roof 
similar in design and materials to the roof over the rest of the structure. Said roof shall be 
incorporated into the overall roof design for the structure. Alternatively, such features 
(stairways, lifts, corridors or balconies) may be recessed into the façade of the building.  

6. Exterior corridors may not be located on a street-facing wall of the building.  

b. Exterior fire egress stairways serving second floor or higher floors of multi-unit residences 
shall be allowed according to city requirements on existing buildings that otherwise are not 

345



 14 

able to reasonably satisfy city fire safety code requirements, provided the fire egress stairway 
or structure is not located on the front door wall of a building that faces a street. All such 
egress structures that are located on the front door wall of a building that faces a street, 
whether new or replacement of an existing egress structure, shall be subject to review by the 
commission and approval by the city council. Areas of review shall be general design, 
materials utilized and location of the proposed egress structure. On corner lots, if a side street-
facing mandated access is necessary and other options are unavailable, the side-street facing 
wall shall be used for this egress structure. In any case, fire egress stairways must utilize 
similar materials as outlined above; i.e., no unpainted wooden material shall be allowed.  

(6) Building materials.  

a. For multiple dwellings, at least 30% of the exterior walls of the front facade level of a building 
must be constructed with a masonry finish such as fired brick, stone or similar material, not to 
include concrete blocks and undressed poured concrete. Masonry may include stucco or 
similar material when used in combination with other masonry finishes. The following trim 
elements shall be incorporated into the exterior design and construction of the building, with 
the following recommended dimensions to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis:  

1. Window and door trim that is not less than 3 inches wide.  

2. Corner boards that are not less than 3 inches wide unless wood clapboards are used and 
mitered at the corners.  

3. Frieze boards not less than 5 inches wide, located below the eaves.  

b.  For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of at least 
30% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be concentrated on the 
base of the building. On street-facing facades, a minimum of 70% of the ground level floor 
between 2 and 10 feet in height above the adjacent ground level shall consist of clear and 
transparent storefront windows and doors that allow views into the interior of the store. 
Exceptions may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where window coverage should be 
concentrated at the corner, but may be reduced along the secondary street façade. The 
bottom of storefront windows shall be no more than 2 feet above the adjacent ground level, 
except along sloping sites, where this standard shall be met to the extent possible so that 
views into the interior of the store are maximized and blank walls are avoided. 

c. Any portion of a building with a side street façade must be constructed using similar materials 
and similar proportions and design as the front facade.  

d. Exposed, unpainted or unstained lumber materials are prohibited along any facade that faces 
a street-side lot line (i.e., public street frontage).  

e. Where an exterior wall material changes along the horizontal plane of a building, the material 
change must occur on an inside corner of the building.  

f. For buildings where the exterior wall material on the side of the building is a different material 
than what is used on the street facing or wall front, the street facing or wall front material must 
wrap around the corners to the alternate material side of the building at least 3 additional feet.  

g. Where an exterior wall material changes along the vertical plane of the building, the materials 
must be separated by a horizontal band such as a belt course, soldier course, band board or 
other trim to provide a transition from one material to another.  

(g) Commercial district. The College Hill Neighborhood commercial district is defined by the boundaries of 
the C-3, commercial zoning district. The district is made up primarily of commercial buildings and 
mixed-use buildings. However, some properties are occupied or may be occupied in the future by 

346



 15 

residential buildings. Residential buildings are to be discouraged due to the limited area available for 
commercial uses. Standards for residential buildings are set forth below. However, dwelling units 
located on upper floor(s) of mixed-use buildings are allowed, as set forth below.  

(1) Residential buildings are only allowed within the commercial district subject to planning and zoning 
commission and city council review and approval. In general, such uses are to be discouraged 
within the commercial district due to the limited area available for commercial establishments. In 
those cases where a residential building is permitted, said residential use will be governed by 
minimum lot area, lot width and building setback requirements as specified in the R-4, Residential 
zoning district. In addition, all other applicable requirements pertaining to substantial improvements 
or new construction of any residential use shall conform to the requirements of this section, 
including on-site parking, landscaping, and building setbacks, with no vehicular parking allowed in 
the required front and side yards, said required yards being those as defined within the R-4, 
Residential district.  

(2) Commercial and mixed-use buildings are allowed. In a mixed-use building, no residential use may 
be established on the main floor or street level floor, other than entrance and lobby areas that 
provide access to upper floor uses. To provide safe access for residents of the building, there must 
be at least one main entrance on the street-facing façade of the building that provides pedestrian 
access to dwelling units within the building. Access to dwelling units must not be solely through a 
parking garage or from a rear or side entrance. To foster active street frontages, commercial and 
mixed-use buildings must be placed to the front and corner of lots, and set back a minimum of 0 
feet and maximum of 15 feet from street-side lot lines. The ground floor floor-to-structural ceiling 
height shall be 14 feet minimum. Entries to individual ground floor tenant spaces and entries to 
common lobbies accessing upper floor space shall open directly onto public sidewalks or publicly-
accessible outdoor plazas. Thresholds at building entries shall match the grade of the adjacent 
sidewalk or plaza area. Entries on street-facing facades shall be sheltered by awnings or canopies 
that project a minimum of four feet from the building façade and must be a minimum of 8 feet 
above the adjacent sidewalk.  

(3) Conditional uses. The following uses may be allowed as a conditional use subject to review and 
approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. The proposed use must 
conform to the prevailing character of the district and such use shall not necessitate the use of 
outdoor storage areas. In addition such conditional uses must not generate excessive amounts of 
noise, odor, vibrations, or fumes, or generate excessive amounts of truck traffic. Examples of uses 
that may be allowed subject to approval of a conditional use permit are:  

a. Printing or publishing facility;  

b. Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail business 
conducted on the premises;  

c. Home supply business.  

(4) Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the C-3, commercial 
district either as permitted or conditional uses:  

a. Lumber yards;  

b. Used or new auto sales lots and displays;  

c. Auto body shop;  

d. Storage warehouse or business;  

e. Mini-storage warehouse;  

f. Sheet metal shop;  

347



 16 

g. Outdoor storage yard;  

h. Billboard signs.  

(5) Signage. Typical business signage shall be permitted without mandatory review by the planning 
and zoning commission and approval by the city council unless a proposed sign projects or 
extends over the public right-of-way, or a free-standing pole sign is proposed which is out of 
character with the prevailing height or size of similar signs, in which case planning and zoning 
commission review and approval by the city council shall be required. All signage within the district 
shall conform to the general requirements of the Cedar Falls Zoning Ordinance, with the exception 
that excessively tall free-standing signs (i.e., 30 feet or more in height) shall not be allowed.  

Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork and exterior painting of any structure within the 
commercial district shall be subject to review by the planning and zoning commission and approval 
by the city council for the purpose of considering scale, context, coloration, and appropriateness of 
the proposal in relation to nearby facades and also in relation to the prevailing character of the 
commercial district.  

 
 
INTRODUCED:     February 18, 2019   
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      _____ 
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       
PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       
ADOPTED:          
 

____________________________ 
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

348



1 

 

Recommendation: Amend Section 29-160 as noted below. Underlined text is new 
language. Text shown with strike-through notation is to be deleted.  

 
Sec. 29-160. - CHN, College Hill Neighborhood overlay zoning district.  

General Regulations  

(a) Boundaries. The College Hill Neighborhood zoning district (CHN District) boundaries are 
shown in the College Hill Neighborhood Master Plan and legally described in Attachment A. 
(Said attachment is not set out at length herein but is on file in the office of the city planner.)  

(b) Purpose and intent: The purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood overlay zoning district is 
to regulate development and land uses within the College Hill Neighborhood and to provide 
guidance for building and site design standards, maintenance and development of the 
residential and business districts in a manner that complements the University of Northern 
Iowa campus, promotes community vitality and safety and strengthens commercial 
enterprise. New structures, including certain types of fences, certain modifications to 
existing structures and certain site improvements and site maintenance shall conform to 
this section.  

The provisions of this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district 

regulations and requirements in which the land may be classified. In the case of conflict, 

the most restrictive provisions shall govern unless otherwise expressly provided in this 

section.  

(c) Definitions.  

(1) Bedroom: A room unit intended for sleeping purposes containing at least 70 square 
feet of floor space for each occupant. Neither closets nor any part of a room where the 
ceiling height is less than five feet shall be considered when computing floor area.  

(2)  Change in use: Change in use shall include residential uses changed from single-unit 
to two-unit or two-unit to multi-unit or to any increase in residential intensity within a 
structure (i.e. change from duplex to fraternity house). The term shall also apply to 
changes in use classifications (i.e. residential to commercial).  

(3) Fraternity/sorority: Residential facilities provided for college students and sponsored by 
university affiliated student associations. Such facilities may contain individual or 
common sleeping areas and bathroom facilities but shall provide common kitchen, 
dining, and lounging areas. Such facilities may contain more than one unit.  

(4) Greenway: Open landscaped area maintained for floodplain protection, stormwater 
management and public access. Such area may contain pedestrian walkways or 
bicycle pathways but is not intended for regular or seasonal usage by motorized 
recreational vehicles.  

(5) Landscaped area: An area not subject to vehicular traffic, which consists of living 
landscape material including grass, trees and shrubbery.  

(6) Lot split, property transfer: Not a subdivision plat where a new lot is being created; 
includes any transfer of small segments of property or premises between two abutting 
properties, whether commonly owned or owned by separate parties, where one 
property (the "sending property") is dedicating or deeding additional land to another 
abutting property (the "receiving property."[)]  

349



2 

 

(7)  Mixed-Use Building: A building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two different 
uses. Uses generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, personal 
services) are typically located on the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses 
generating limited pedestrian activity (such as office or residential uses) are typically 
located on upper floors or behind street-fronting commercial uses.  

(7 8) Neighborhood character: The College Hill Neighborhood area is one of Cedar 
Falls' oldest and most densely populated neighborhoods. As the University of Northern 
Iowa has grown the original single-unit residential neighborhood surrounding the 
campus area has been transformed into a mixture of single-unit, duplex and multiple 
unit dwelling units along with a few institutional uses and other university-related uses 
such as fraternities and sorority houses. These various uses are contained in a variety 
of underlying zoning districts (i.e. R-2, R-3, R-4, Residential and C-3, commercial 
districts). Architectural styles vary significantly among existing building structures while 
differing land uses and building types are permitted in different zoning districts. When 
references are made in this ordinance to preservation of neighborhood character, 
uniformity of building scale, size, bulk and unusual or widely varying appearance are of 
primary concern regardless of the nature of the proposed building use.  

New construction, including significant improvements to existing structures, shall be of 
a character that respects and complements existing neighborhood development. The 
following variables or criteria shall be used in determining whether a newly proposed 
construction or building renovation is in keeping with the character of the 
neighborhood:  

a. Overall bulk/size of the building;  

b. Overall height of the building;  

c. Number of proposed dwelling units in comparison to surrounding properties;  

d. Lot density (lot area divided by number of dwelling units);  

e. Off-street parking provision;  

f. Architectural compatibility with surrounding buildings.  

(8 9) Parking area: That portion of a parcel of land that is improved and designated or 
commonly used for the parking of one or more motor vehicles.  

(9 10) Parking lot: That area improved and designated or commonly used for the 
parking of three or more vehicles.  

(10 11) Parking space, also parking stall: An area measuring at least nine feet wide and 
19 feet long for all commercial, institutional or manufacturing uses or eight feet wide 
and 18 feet long for residential uses only, connected to a public street or alley by a 
driveway not less than ten feet wide, and so arranged as to permit ingress and egress 
of motor vehicles without moving any other vehicle parked adjacent to the parking 
space.  

(11 12) Premises: A lot, plot or parcel of land including all structures thereon. 

(13)  Residential Building:  Any building that is designed and/or used exclusively for 
residential purposes, but not including a tent, cabin or travel trailer.  

(12 14) Residential conversion: The alteration or modification of a residential structure 
that will result in an increase in the number of rooming units or dwelling units within the 

350



3 

 

residential structure. The addition or creation of additional rooms within an existing 
rooming unit or dwelling unit does not constitute a residential conversion.  

(13 15) Structural alteration: Any alteration, exterior or interior that alters the exterior 
dimension of the structure. This provision shall apply to residential, commercial and 
institutional uses including churches or religious institutions.  

(14 16) Substantial improvement: Any new construction within the district or any 
renovation of an existing structure, including the following:  

a. Any increase in floor area or increased external dimension of a residential or 
commercial structure. Additional bedrooms proposed in an existing duplex or multi-
unit residence shall be considered a substantial improvement. Bedroom additions 
to single-unit residences shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

b. Any modification of the exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or 
removing exterior windows or doors. Repair or replacement of existing windows or 
doors which does not result in any change in the size, number or location of said 
windows and doors shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

c. Any structural alteration that increases the number of bedrooms or dwelling units. 
Interior room additions, including bedroom additions, may be made to single-unit 
residential structures without requiring additional on-site parking.  

d. All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of 
existing facade materials on residential or commercial structures. Routine repair 
and replacement of existing siding materials with the same or similar siding 
materials on existing structures shall be exempt from these regulations.  

e. Any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar projections over public 
sidewalk areas.  

f. Any increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of existing 
roof pitch or appearance. Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials 
that do not materially change or affect the appearance, shape or configuration of 
the existing roof shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

g. Any construction of a detached accessory structure measuring more than 300 sq. 
ft. in base floor area for a residential or commercial principal use.  

h. Any increase in area of any existing parking area or parking lot or any new 
construction of a parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or 
parking lot contains or is designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or 
more parking stalls.  

i. Any proposed property boundary fence, which utilizes unusual fencing materials 
such as stones, concrete blocks, logs, steel beams or similar types of atypical or 
unusual fence materials. Standard chain link fences, wooden or vinyl privacy 
fences shall be exempt from these provisions.  

j. Demolition and removal of an entire residential, commercial or institutional 
structure on a property shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

(d) Administrative review.  

(1) Applicability. The provisions of this section shall constitute the requirements for all 
premises and properties that lie within the boundaries of the College Hill Neighborhood 
overlay zoning district. This section and the requirements stated herein shall apply to 

351



4 

 

all new construction, change in use, structural alterations, substantial improvements or 
site improvements including:  

a. Any substantial improvement to any residential, commercial or institutional 
structure, including churches.  

b. Any new construction, change in use, residential conversion or structural 
alteration, as defined herein, for any structure.  

c. Any new building structure including single-unit residences.  

(2) In the case of emergency repairs required as the result of unanticipated building or 
facade damages due to events such as fire, vandalism, flooding or weather-related 
damages, site plan review by the planning and zoning commission and the city council 
will not be required for completion of said emergency repairs, provided that the extent 
of damages and cost of said repairs are less than 50 percent of the value of the 
structure. However, said emergency repairs along with cost estimates related to the 
extent of building structural damages shall be verified by the city planner in conjunction 
with the city building inspector. Said emergency repairs, to the extent possible, shall 
repair and re-establish the original appearance of the structure. In the event that said 
emergency repairs result in dramatic alteration of the exterior appearance of the 
structure as determined by the city planner, the owner of the property shall make 
permanent repairs or renovations that re-establish the original appearance of the 
structure with respect to facade features, window and door sizes, locations and 
appearances of said windows and doors within six months following completion of said 
emergency repairs. Said emergency repairs shall not alter the number, size or 
configuration of pre-existing rooms, bedrooms or dwelling units within the structure.  

(3) Submittal requirements. Applicants for any new construction, change in use, structural 
alteration, facade alteration, residential conversion, substantial improvement, parking 
lot construction or building enlargement shall submit to the city planning division an 
application accompanied by such additional information and documentation as shall be 
deemed appropriate by the city planner in order for the planning division to properly 
review the application. The required application for any project may include one or 
more of the following elements depending upon the nature of the application proposal. 
Some applications will require submittal of more information than other types of 
applications. The city planner will advise the applicant which of these items need to be 
submitted with each application with the goal of providing sufficient information so that 
decision makers can make an informed decision on each application.  

a. Written description of building proposal, whether a new structure, facade 
improvement, parking lot improvement, building addition, etc. The name and 
address of the property owner and property developer (if different) must be 
provided.  

b. Building floor plans;  

c. Building materials;  

d. Dimensions of existing and proposed exterior building "footprint";  

e. Facade details/exterior rendering of the structure being modified, description of 
proposed building design elements including but not limited to building height, roof 
design, number and location of doors and windows and other typical facade 
details;  

f. Property boundaries, existing and proposed building setbacks;  

352



5 

 

g. Parking lot location, setbacks, parking stall locations and dimensions along with 
parking lot screening details;  

h. Lot area and lot width measurements with explanation if any portion of an adjacent 
lot or property is being transferred to the property under consideration;  

i. Open green space areas and proposed landscaping details with schedule for 
planting new landscaping materials;  

j. Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas;  

k. Storm water detention/management plans.  

Following submittal of the appropriate application materials as determined by the city 
planner, said application materials shall be reviewed by the City of Cedar Falls 
Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council to determine if the submittal 
meets all ordinance requirements and conforms to the standards of the comprehensive 
plan, recognized principles of civic design, land use planning and landscape 
architecture. The commission may recommend and the city council may approve the 
application as submitted, may deny the application, or may require the applicant to 
modify, alter, adjust or amend the application as deemed necessary to the end that it 
preserves the intent and purpose of this section to promote the public health, safety 
and general welfare.  

(e) District requirements and criteria for review.  

(1) Minimum on-site parking requirements. If different from the underlying base zone, the 
following requirements shall govern.  

a. Single-unit residence Dwelling: Two parking stalls per residence dwelling.  

b.  Single-unit Dwelling, renter-occupied: Two parking stalls per dwelling unit plus one 
additional parking stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms.  

b. Two-unit residence Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling units plus one additional stall 
for each bedroom in each dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms.  

c. Multi-unit residence Multiple Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling unit plus one 
additional stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. One additional stall 
shall be provided for every five units in excess of five units for visitor parking. One 
stall per bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling unit.  

d. Commercial and Mixed-Use Buildings: No parking required for non-residential 
uses. For dwelling units within mixed-use buildings, one parking stall per bedroom, 
but not less than one stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-use 
buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for existing 
dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use and commercial buildings constructed 
prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper floor space that is 
converted to residential use.  

d. Boardinghouse/rooming house: Five stalls plus one stall for every guest room in 
excess of four guest rooms.  

e. Fraternity/sorority: Five parking stalls plus one stall for every two residents in 
excess of four residents.  

f. Where fractional spaces result, the number required shall be the next higher whole 
number.  

353



6 

 

g. Bicycle accommodations: All new multi-unit residential facilities are encouraged to 
provide for the establishment of bicycle racks of a size appropriate for the 
anticipated residential occupancy of the facility. A general suggested bike parking 
standard is 2 bike stalls per residential unit. For commercial projects, if lot area is 
available, bike racks are encouraged to be installed in conjunction with the 
commercial project.  

(2) Parking lot standards:  

a. All newly constructed or expanded parking lots (three or more parking stalls) shall 
be hard surfaced with concrete or asphalt, provided with a continuous curb, be set 
back a minimum five feet from adjacent property lines or public right-of-way with 
the exception of alleyways, in which case a three foot permeable setback will be 
required, and otherwise conform to all parking guidelines as specified in this 
section and in section 29-177 of the Zoning Ordinance. Alternative parking lot 
surfaces may be considered to the extent that such surfaces provide adequate 
storm water absorption rates, subject to city engineering review and approval, 
while providing an acceptable surface material and finished appearance. Gravel or 
crushed asphalt parking lots will not be permitted. However, other types of 
ecologically sensitive parking lot designs will be encouraged and evaluated on a 
case-by-case basis.  

b. Landscaping in parking lots shall be classified as either internal or peripheral. The 
following coverage requirements shall pertain to each classification:  

1. Peripheral landscaping. All parking lots containing three (3) or more parking 
spaces shall provide peripheral landscaping. Peripheral landscaping shall 
consist of a landscaped strip not less than five feet in width, exclusive of 
vehicular obstruction, and shall be located between the parking area and the 
abutting property lines. One tree for each 25 lineal feet of such landscaping 
barrier or fractional part thereof shall be planted in the landscaping strip. At 
least one tree shall be planted for every parking lot (such as a 3-stall parking 
lot) regardless of the lineal feet calculation. In addition to tree plantings, the 
perimeter of the parking lot shall be screened with shrubbery or similar 
plantings at least 3-f[ee]t in height as measured from the finished grade of the 
parking lot at the time of planting for purposes of vehicular screening. The 
vegetative screen should present a continuous, effective visual screen 
adjacent to the parking lot for purposes of partially obscuring vehicles and also 
deflecting glare from headlights. If landscaped berms are utilized, the berm 
and vegetative screening must achieve at least a 3-foot tall screen at time of 
installation as measured from the grade of the finished parking lot. Each such 
planting area shall be landscaped with grass, ground cover or other landscape 
material excluding paving, gravel, crushed asphalt or similar materials, in 
addition to the required trees, shrubbery, hedges or other planting material. 
Existing landscaping upon abutting property shall not be used to satisfy the 
requirements for said parking lot screening requirements unless the abutting 
land use is a parking lot.  

2. Exceptions:  

(a) Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for single-unit or two-unit 
residential structures where the primary parking area is designed around 
a standard front entrance driveway and/or attached or detached 
residential garage. However, if an open surface parking lot containing 

354



7 

 

three (3) or more parking stalls is established in the rear yard of a two-unit 
residential structure, the perimeter landscaping/screening requirements 
as specified herein shall apply.  

(b) Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for parking lots that are 
established behind building structures where the parking lots do not have 
any public street or alley frontage or is not adjacent to any open 
properties such as private yards, parks or similar open areas. Examples 
of such a parking lot would be one designed with a multiple unit 
apartment facility where the parking lot is encircled with building 
structures within the project site and where the parking lot is completely 
obscured from public view by building structures.  

(c) Underground or under-building parking lots.  

(d) Above-ground parking ramps shall provide perimeter screening as 
specified herein around the ground level perimeter of the parking 
structure.  

3. Internal landscaping. All parking lots measuring 21 parking stalls or more shall 
be required to landscape the interior of such parking lot. At least one over-
story tree shall be established for every 21 parking stalls. Each tree shall be 
provided sufficient open planting area necessary to sustain full growth of the 
tree. Not less than five percent of the proposed paved area of the interior of 
the parking lot shall be provided as open space, excluding the tree planting 
areas. These additional open space areas must be planted with bushes, 
grasses or similar vegetative materials. Each separate open green space area 
shall contain a minimum of 40 square feet and shall have a minimum width 
dimension of a least five feet.  

4. Exceptions: Internal landscaping shall not be required for vehicular storage 
lots, trucking/warehousing lots or for automobile sales lots. However, 
perimeter landscaping/screening provisions, as specified herein, shall be 
required for all such parking areas when they are installed or enlarged in area.  

5. Parking Garages or Parking Ramps: All such facilities where one or more 
levels are established for parking either below ground or above ground and 
where structural walls provide for general screening of parked vehicles, 
internal landscaping shall not be provided.  

6. It is the intent of this regulation that in parking development sites open green 
space and landscape areas should be distributed throughout the parking 
development site rather than isolated in one area or around the perimeter of 
the parking lot. Trees and shrubs planted within parking areas shall be 
protected by concrete curbs and provide adequate permeable surface area to 
promote growth and full maturity of said vegetation.  

c. Parking stalls must provide a minimum separation of four feet from the exterior 
walls of any principal structure on the property as measured from the vehicle 
(including vehicular overhang) to the nearest wall of the structure. No vehicular 
parking stall shall be so oriented or positioned as to block or obstruct any point of 
egress from a structure, including doorways or egress windows.  

d. No portion of required front or side yards in any residential (R) zoning district shall 
be used for the establishment of any parking space, parking area, or parking lot, 

355



8 

 

except for those driveways serving a single unit or two-unit residence. For all other 
uses, a single driveway no more than 18 feet in width may be established across 
the required front and side yards, provided that side yard driveway setbacks are 
observed, as an access to designated rear yard parking areas. unless said lot is 
dedicated entirely to a parking lot, in which case a wider driveway access will be 
allowed across the required yard area to access said parking lot.  

e. When a driveway or access off a public street no longer serves its original purpose 
as access to a garage or parking lot due to redevelopment of the property or is 
replaced with an alternative parking lot or parking arrangement with an alternate 
route of access, the original driveway access shall be re-curbed by the owner at 
the owner's expense and the parking/ driveway area shall be returned to open 
green space with grass plantings or other similar landscaping materials.  

f. Routine maintenance of existing parking areas and parking lots, including 
resurfacing of said areas with similar materials or with hard surfacing will be 
permitted without requiring review by the planning and zoning commission and city 
council, provided that no increase in area of said existing parking area or parking 
lot, or any new construction of a parking area or parking lot, which existing or new 
parking area or parking lot contains or is designed to potentially accommodate a 
total of three or more parking stalls, occurs. Any newly paved or hard surfaced 
parking lot, excluding those existing hard surface parking lots that are merely 
being resurfaced, must satisfy minimum required setbacks from the property line 
or alley and must provide a continuous curb around the perimeter of said improved 
parking lot. Hard surfacing of any existing unpaved parking area or parking lot will 
require an evaluation by the city engineering division regarding increased storm 
water run-off/possible storm water detention.  

(3) Storm water drainage:  

a. Storm water detention requirements as outlined in City Code Section 27-405 and 
in Section 29-87 of the Zoning Ordinance shall apply to all newly developed 
parking lots and new building uses. In addition, said requirements shall apply to 
any existing parking lot that is resurfaced, reconstructed or enlarged subject to 
review by the city engineer. In those cases where no municipal storm sewer is 
readily available to serve a particular property or development site, the use of the 
property will be limited. The maximum allowable use that shall be permitted on any 
particular property or development site which is not served by a municipal storm 
sewer shall be limited to the following uses in Residential zoning districts: a 
parking lot; a single-unit residence; a two-unit residence; or a multi-unit residence. 
Provided, however, that the applicant shall be required to submit calculations, 
which shall be subject to review and approval by the city engineering division, that 
verify that the total impervious surface area on the particular property or 
development site that will exist immediately following completion of the proposed 
new development shall be no greater than the total impervious surface area on the 
particular property or development site that existed immediately prior to the 
proposed new development.  

b. Soil erosion control: At the time of new site development, including parking lot 
construction, soil erosion control measures must be installed on the site in 
conformance with city engineering standards. Said soil erosion measures must be 
maintained until the site is stabilized to the satisfaction of the city engineering 
division.  

356



9 

 

(4) Open space/landscaping requirements:  

a. Principal permitted uses within the district shall provide minimum building setbacks 
as required in the zoning ordinance. With the exception of construction periods 
said required front and side setback areas (required yards) shall be maintained 
with natural vegetative materials and shall not be obstructed with any temporary or 
permanent structure, on-site vehicular parking including trailers or recreational 
vehicles, nor disturbed by excavations, holes, pits or established recreational 
areas that produce bare spots in the natural vegetation.  

b. Driveways measuring no more than 18 feet in width, sidewalks and pedestrian 
access ways measuring no more than six feet in width may be established across 
the required front and side yard areas.  

c. All newly constructed office or institutional buildings in the R-3 or R-4 districts and 
all newly constructed single unit dwellings, two-unit dwellings, or multi-unit multiple 
dwellings residential structures in residential or commercial districts shall provide 
on-site landscaping within the required yard areas or in other green space areas of 
the property at the rate of 0.04 points per square foot of total lot area of the site 
under consideration for the proposed residential development or improvement. 
Landscaping shall consist of any combination of trees and shrubbery, subject to 
review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. 
In addition to these requirements, parking lot plantings and/or screening must be 
provided as specified herein. Plantings must be established within one year 
following issuance of a building permit. This provision shall not apply to 
commercial uses or commercial structures commercial or mixed-use buildings 
established in the C-3, commercial district.  

d. Measured compliance: The following landscaping point schedule applies to 
required landscaping in all zoning districts within the College Hill Neighborhood 
overlay district with the exception of commercial uses in the C-3 commercial 
business district, and shall be used in determining achieved points for required 
plantings. The points are to be assigned to plant sizes at time of 
planting/installation.  

Over-Story Trees:  
 

4-inch caliper or greater  100 points  

3-inch caliper to 4-inch caliper  90 points  

2-inch caliper to 3-inch caliper  80 points  

1-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  60 points  

  

Under-Story Trees:  
 

2-inch caliper or greater  40 points  

1½-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  30 points  

1-inch to 1½-inch caliper  20 points  

  

357



10 

 

Shrubs:  
 

5-gallon or greater  10 points  

2-gallon to 5-gallon  5 points  

  

Conifers:  
 

10-foot height or greater  100 points  

8-foot to 10-foot height  90 points  

6-foot to 8-foot height  80 points  

5-foot to 6-foot height  40 points  

4-foot to 5-foot height  30 points  

3-foot to 4-foot height  20 points  

  

(5) Fences/retaining walls:  

a. Fences shall be permitted on properties in accordance with the height and location 
requirements outlined in section 29-86 of the Zoning Ordinance. Zoning/land use 
permits shall be required for fences erected within the district.  

b. Any existing fence or freestanding wall that is, in the judgment of the building 
inspector, structurally unsound and a hazard to adjoining property shall be 
removed upon the order of the building inspector.  

c. Retaining walls may be installed on property as a measure to control soil erosion 
or storm water drainage. However, said retaining walls shall be permitted only after 
review and approval by the city engineer.  

(6) Detached accessory structures. All newly constructed detached accessory structures 
or expansions of existing detached accessory structures exceeding 300 sq. ft. in base 
floor area proposed to be situated on residential or commercial properties shall be 
subject to review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and city 
council. Maximum allowable building height, size and location requirements for 
accessory structures as specified in section 29-115 shall apply. In addition to those 
standards, proposed detached accessory structures or expanded structures larger than 
300 sq. ft. in area shall be designed in such a manner as to be consistent with the 
architectural style of the principal residential or commercial structure on the property. 
Similar building materials, colors, roof lines, roof pitch and roofing materials shall be 
established on the accessory structure to match as closely as possible those elements 
on the principal structure. In addition, vertical steel siding along with "metal pole barn" 
type construction shall not be allowed.  

(7) No existing single-unit residential structure in the R-2 district shall be converted or 
otherwise structurally altered in a manner that will result in the creation or potential 
establishment of a second dwelling unit within the structure.  

358



11 

 

(8) No duplex (two-unit) two-unit dwelling or multi-unit multiple dwelling shall add dwelling 
units or bedrooms to any dwelling unit without satisfying minimum on-site parking 
requirements. If additional parking spaces are required, the entire parking area must 
satisfy parking lot development standards as specified herein.  

(9) No portion of an existing parcel of land or lot or plot shall be split, subdivided or 
transferred to another abutting lot or parcel for any purpose without prior review and 
approval by the city planning and zoning commission and the city council. Land cannot 
be transferred or split from one lot or property to be transferred to another for purposes 
of benefiting the "receiving" property while diminishing the minimum required lot area, 
lot width or building or parking lot setback area of the "sending" property. Such lot 
transfer or split shall not create a nonconforming lot by virtue of reduction of minimum 
required lot area, lot width or reduction of minimum required building or parking lot 
setbacks. Said lot transfer or split shall not affect any existing nonconforming property 
by further reducing any existing nonconforming element of the lot or property including 
lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setbacks in order to benefit another abutting 
property for development purposes. This provision shall not apply to those instances 
where separate lots or properties are being assembled for purposes of new building 
construction where existing structures on the assembled lots will be removed in order 
to accommodate new building construction.  

(10) Site plan revisions/amendments: All changes, modifications, revisions and 
amendments made to development site plans that are deemed to be major or 
substantial by the city planner shall be resubmitted to the planning and zoning 
commission in the same manner as originally required in this section. Examples of 
major or substantial changes shall include but are not limited to changes in building 
location, building size, property size, parking arrangements, enlarged or modified 
parking lots, open green space or landscaping modifications, setback areas or changes 
in building design elements.  

(11) Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas must be clearly marked and established on all 
site plans associated with new development or redevelopment projects. No required 
parking area or required parking stalls shall be encumbered by a trash disposal area.  

a. Large commercial refuse dumpsters and recycling bins serving residential or 
commercial uses shall be located in areas of the property that are not readily 
visible from public streets. No such dumpster or bin shall be established within the 
public right of way. All dumpsters and bins shall be affixed with a solid lid covering 
and shall be screened for two purposes: (1) visual screening; and (2) containing 
dispersal of loose trash due to over-filling. Screening materials shall match or be 
complementary to the prevailing building materials.  

(f) Design review. Any new construction, building additions, facade renovations or structural 
alterations to commercial or residential structures, or substantial improvements to single-
unit residences that, in the judgment of the city planner, substantially alters the exterior 
appearance or character of permitted structures shall require review and approval by the 
Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  

(1) Criteria for review:  

a. Applications involving building design review. Neighborhood character, as herein 
defined, shall be considered in all.  

b. The architectural character, materials, textures of all buildings or building additions 
shall be compatible with those primary design elements on structures located on 

359



12 

 

adjoining properties and also in consideration of said design elements commonly 
utilized on other nearby properties on the same block or within the immediate 
neighborhood.  

c. Comparable scale and character in relation to adjoining properties and other 
nearby properties in the immediate neighborhood shall be maintained by reviewing 
features such as:  

1. Maintaining similar roof pitch.  

2. Maintaining similar building height, building scale and building proportion.  

3. Use of materials comparable and similar to other buildings on nearby 
properties in the immediate neighborhood.  

d. Mandated second entrances or fire escapes established above grade shall not 
extend into the required front yard area.  

e. Existing entrances and window openings on the front facades and side yard 
facades facing public streets shall be maintained in the same general location and 
at the same general scale as original openings or be consistent with neighboring 
properties.  

f. Projects involving structural improvements or facade renovations to existing 
structures must provide structural detail and ornamentation that is consistent with 
the underlying design of the original building.  

g. The primary front entrances of all residential buildings shall face toward the public 
street. Street frontage wall spaces shall provide visual relief to large blank wall 
areas with the use of windows or doorways and other architectural ornamentation.  

(2) Building entrances for multi-unit residential multiple dwellings. Main entrances should 
be clearly demarcated by one of the following:  

a. Covered porch or canopy.  

b. Pilaster and pediment.  

c. Other significant architectural treatment that emphasizes the main entrance. 
Simple "trim" around the doorway does not satisfy this requirement.  

(3) Building scale for multi-unit residential multiple dwellings. Street facing walls that are 
greater than 50 feet in length shall be articulated with bays, projections or alternating 
recesses according to the following suggested guidelines:  

a. Bays and projections should be at least 6 feet in width and at least 16 inches, but 
not more than 6 feet, in depth. Recesses should be at least 6 feet in width and 
have a depth of at least 16 inches.  

b. The bays, projections and recesses should have corresponding changes in 
roofline or, alternatively, should be distinguished by a corresponding change in 
some architectural elements of the building such as roof dormers, alternating 
exterior wall materials, a change in window patterns, the addition of balconies, 
variation in the building or parapet height or variation in architectural details such 
as decorative banding, reveals or stone accents.  

(4) Building scale for commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. The width of the front 
façade of new commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be no more than 40 feet. 
Buildings may exceed this limitation if the horizontal plane of any street-facing façade 

360



13 

 

of a building is broken into modules that give the appearance or illusion of smaller, 
individual buildings. Each module should satisfy the following suggested guidelines that 
give the appearance of separate, individual buildings:  

a. Each module should be no greater than 30 feet and no less than 10 feet in width 
and should be distinguished from adjacent modules by variation in the wall plane 
of at least 16 inches depth. For buildings 3 or more stories in height the width 
module may be increased to 40 feet.  

b. Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of 
separate architectural identity.  

c. Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of 
the following means:  

1. Variation in material colors, types, textures  

2. Variation in the building and/or parapet height  

3. Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, 
stones or tile accent  

4. Variation in window pattern  

5. Variation in the use of balconies and recesses.  

(5) Balconies and exterior walkways, corridors and lifts serving multi-unit residences.  

a. Exterior stairways refer to stairways that lead to floors and dwelling units of a 
building above the first or ground level floor of a building. Exterior corridors refer to 
unenclosed corridors located above the first floor or ground level floor of a building. 
Balconies and exterior stairways, exterior corridors and exterior lifts must comply 
with the following:  

1. Materials must generally match or be complementary to the building materials 
utilized on that portion of a building where the exterior corridor or balcony is 
established.  

2. Unpainted wooden materials are expressly prohibited.  

3. Stained or painted wood materials may only be utilized if said material and 
coloration is guaranteed for long term wear and the material is compatible with 
the principal building materials on that portion of the building where the 
exterior corridor is established.  

4. The design of any balcony, exterior stairway, exterior lift or exterior corridor 
must utilize columns, piers, supports, walls and railings that are designed and 
constructed of materials that are similar or complementary to the design and 
materials used on that portion of the building where the feature is established.  

5. Exterior stairways, exterior lifts, corridors and balconies must be covered with 
a roof similar in design and materials to the roof over the rest of the structure. 
Said roof shall be incorporated into the overall roof design for the structure. 
Alternatively, such features (stairways, lifts, corridors or balconies) may be 
recessed into the façade of the building.  

6. Exterior corridors may not be located on a street-facing wall of the building.  

b. Exterior fire egress stairways serving second floor or higher floors of multi-unit 
residences shall be allowed according to city requirements on existing buildings 

361



14 

 

that otherwise are not able to reasonably satisfy city fire safety code requirements, 
provided the fire egress stairway or structure is not located on the front door wall of 
a building that faces a street. All such egress structures that are located on the 
front door wall of a building that faces a street, whether new or replacement of an 
existing egress structure, shall be subject to review by the commission and 
approval by the city council. Areas of review shall be general design, materials 
utilized and location of the proposed egress structure. On corner lots, if a side 
street-facing mandated access is necessary and other options are unavailable, the 
side-street facing wall shall be used for this egress structure. In any case, fire 
egress stairways must utilize similar materials as outlined above; i.e., no unpainted 
wooden material shall be allowed.  

(6) Building materials for multi-unit residential dwellings.  

a. For multiple unit dwellings, at least 30% of the exterior walls of the front facade 
level of a building must be constructed with a masonry finish such as fired brick, 
stone or similar material, not to include concrete blocks and undressed poured 
concrete. Masonry may include stucco or similar material when used in 
combination with other masonry finishes. The following trim elements shall be 
incorporated into the exterior design and construction of the building, with the 
following recommended dimensions to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis:  

1. Window and door trim that is not less than 3 inches wide.  

2. Corner boards that are not less than 3 inches wide unless wood clapboards 
are used and mitered at the corners.  

3. Frieze boards not less than 5 inches wide, located below the eaves.  

b.  For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised 
of at least 30% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be 
concentrated on the base of the building. On street-facing facades, a minimum of 
70% of the ground level floor between 2 and 10 feet in height above the adjacent 
ground level shall consist of clear and transparent storefront windows and doors 
that allow views into the interior of the store. Exceptions may be allowed for 
buildings on corner lots where window coverage should be concentrated at the 
corner, but may be reduced along the secondary street façade. The bottom of 
storefront windows shall be no more than 2 feet above the adjacent ground level, 
except along sloping sites, where this standard shall be met to the extent possible 
so that views into the interior of the store are maximized and blank walls are 
avoided. 

b c. Any portion of a building with a side street façade must be constructed using 
similar materials and similar proportions and design as the front facade.  

c. In those cases where the developer of the property chooses not to utilize at least 
30% masonry finish as specified above, the developer shall be required to 
incorporate building scale specifications outlined in subsection (f)(3) of this section, 
pertaining to articulation of bays, projections and recesses.  

d. Exposed, unpainted or unstained lumber materials are prohibited along any facade 
that faces a street-side lot line (i.e., public street frontage).  

e. Where an exterior wall material changes along the horizontal plane of a building, 
the material change must occur on an inside corner of the building.  

362



15 

 

f. For buildings where the exterior wall material on the side of the building is a 
different material than what is used on the street facing or wall front, the street 
facing or wall front material must wrap around the corners to the alternate material 
side of the building at least 3 additional feet.  

g. Where an exterior wall material changes along the vertical plane of the building, 
the materials must be separated by a horizontal band such as a belt course, 
soldier course, band board or other trim to provide a transition from one material to 
another.  

(g) Commercial district. The College Hill Neighborhood commercial district is defined by the 
boundaries of the C-3, commercial zoning district. The district is made up primarily of 
commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. uses as the principal uses on individual 
properties. However, some properties are occupied or may be occupied in the future by 
residential buildings. uses that serve as the principal permitted use on individual properties. 
Residential buildings uses established on individual properties as the principal use are to be 
discouraged due to the limited area available for commercial uses. Standards for residential 
buildings are set forth below. However, dwelling units located on upper floor(s) of mixed-
use buildings are allowed, as set forth below. In some cases residential uses may be 
contained within principal commercial uses and in such cases the residential uses are 
considered to be secondary or accessory uses to the principal commercial use on the 
property.  

(1) Principal permitted Residential buildings uses are only allowed able within the 
commercial district subject only to planning and zoning commission and city council 
review and approval. In general, principal permitted residential uses such uses are to 
be discouraged from being established within the commercial district due to the limited 
area available for commercial establishments. In those cases where a residential 
building use is permitted and said use serves as the principal use on an individual 
property, that residential use will be governed by minimum lot area, lot width and 
building setback requirements as specified in the R-4, Residential zoning district. In 
addition, all other applicable requirements pertaining to substantial improvements or 
new construction of any principal permitted residential use shall conform to the 
requirements of this section, including on-site parking, landscaping, and building 
setbacks, with no vehicular parking allowed in the required front and side yards, said 
required yards being those as defined within the R-4, Residential district.  

(2) Secondary or accessory residential uses to be established on the upper floors of 
principal permitted commercial uses are allowed. On-site parking will not be required 
for secondary, accessory residential uses. Commercial and mixed-use buildings are 
allowed. In a mixed-use building, no accessory or secondary residential use may be 
established on the main floor or street level floor, other than entrance and lobby areas 
that provide access to upper floor uses. To provide safe access for residents of the 
building, there must be at least one main entrance on the street-facing façade of the 
building that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units within the building. Access to 
dwelling units must not be solely through a parking garage or from a rear or side 
entrance. To foster active street frontages, commercial and mixed-use buildings must 
be placed to the front and corner of lots, and set back a minimum of 0 feet and 
maximum of 15 feet from street-side lot lines. The ground floor floor-to-structural ceiling 
height shall be 14 feet minimum. Entries to individual ground floor tenant spaces and 
entries to common lobbies accessing upper floor space shall open directly onto public 
sidewalks or publicly-accessible outdoor plazas. Thresholds at building entries shall 
match the grade of the adjacent sidewalk or plaza area. Entries on street-facing 

363



16 

 

facades shall be sheltered by awnings or canopies that project a minimum of four feet 
from the building façade and must be a minimum of 8 feet above the adjacent 
sidewalk.  

 of any storefront or commercial shop front of a principal permitted commercial building 
structure within the C-3, commercial district. Planning and zoning commission and city 
council review relating to the establishment of secondary or accessory residential uses 
shall not be required unless the property owner proposes to utilize any portion of the 
ground floor area of a commercial use on a property for residential purposes.  

(3) Conditional uses. The following uses may be allowed as a conditional use subject to 
review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. The 
proposed use must conform to the prevailing character of the district and such use 
shall not necessitate the use of outdoor storage areas. In addition such conditional 
uses must not generate excessive amounts of noise, odor, vibrations, or fumes, or 
generate excessive amounts of truck traffic. Examples of uses that may be allowed 
subject to approval of a conditional use permit are:  

a. Printing or publishing facility;  

b. Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail 
business conducted on the premises;  

c. Home supply business.  

(4) Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the C-3, 
commercial district either as permitted or conditional uses:  

a. Lumber yards;  

b. Used or new auto sales lots and displays;  

c. Auto body shop;  

d. Storage warehouse or business;  

e. Mini-storage warehouse;  

f. Sheet metal shop;  

g. Outdoor storage yard;  

h. Billboard signs.  

(5) Signage. Typical business signage shall be permitted without mandatory review by the 
planning and zoning commission and approval by the city council unless a proposed 
sign projects or extends over the public right-of-way, or a free-standing pole sign is 
proposed which is out of character with the prevailing height or size of similar signs, in 
which case planning and zoning commission review and approval by the city council 
shall be required. All signage within the district shall conform to the general 
requirements of the Cedar Falls Zoning Ordinance, with the exception that excessively 
tall free-standing signs (i.e., 30 feet or more in height) shall not be allowed.  

Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork and exterior painting of any structure 
within the commercial district shall be subject to review by the planning and zoning 
commission and approval by the city council for the purpose of considering scale, 
context, coloration, and appropriateness of the proposal in relation to nearby facades 
and also in relation to the prevailing character of the commercial district.  

364



From: Karen Morlan  

Sent: Tuesday, January 22, 2019 1:21 PM 
To: Lisa Ahern 

Subject: Re: Housing Commission 

 
Lisa   
 
 
I will not be able to fulfill the remaining time of my term  
 
Thank you for allowing to serve 

Karen  
 

365



From: Todd Blanford  

Sent: Wednesday, January 09, 2019 12:16 PM 
To: Colleen Sole 

Subject: Re:  

 

I have also been meaning to let you know I am going to submit my resignation from the Human 

Rights Commission effective immediately.   

 

I still fully believe in the purpose and goals of the commission in our community.  However, 

since I joined the commission (3 years ago?) there has only been 1-2 new claims brought forward 

for review.  Therefore, it seems like we're becoming more focused on the education part than in 

reviewing potential discrimination claims.   

 

While this too is an important function for the commission and is needed within the community, 

I don't feel I have the background or skill set to contribute much to this end.  Therefore, I hope 

by stepping down it will make room for someone new who can better support this increasingly 

important function of the commission.   

 

I thank you all for allowing me to be part of this Commission these past couple years.  I feel (or 

hope) the reduction in claim activity in our community is an indicator of some of the progress 

we've made to be a more tolerant and caring community.  I know you still have a lot to offer and 

feel you are all up to the challenge. 

 

Best Wishes to all  

 

366



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

February 4, 2019 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 5:35 p.m. on February 4, 2019, 
with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom Blanford, Frank 
Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse (via telephone), Mark Miller, and David 
Wieland.  Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Tom Nelson with the Waterloo 
Courier, and other members of the community also attended.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, FY2020 
Budget Presentation.  Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
thanked other Finance and Business Operations staff for their help in preparing the FY2020 
Budget.  She reviewed the budget process and the property valuations.  She stated assessed 
valuations increased $101 million from last year.  She stated for the FY2020 budget staff is 
proposing the property tax rate of $10.95, which is down from $11.22.   She said residential 
properties will see a .13% decrease, commercial/industrial properties will see a 2.41% 
decrease and multi-residential properties will see a 7.05% decrease.  Ms. Rodenbeck stated 
we continue to review staffing levels and she reviewed outside agency funding.  Ms. 
Rodenbeck answered questions from Council. Ms. Rodenbeck explained the Public Hearing 
will be held on February 18th and we must certify the budget to Black Hawk County by March 
15th.  Rob Green motioned to set the maximum property tax rate at $10.95. Tom Blanford 
seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.  

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and payroll.  Rob Green moved to 
approve the bills as presented, David Wieland seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:10 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

367



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Duke Young Conference Room  

February 4, 2019 
 

The City Council held a special work session in the Duke Young Conference room at 
4:52 p.m. on February 4, 2019, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim 
Brown, Tom Blanford, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse (via telephone), Mark 
Miller, and David Wieland. Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Tom 
Nelson with the Waterloo Courier attended.  

Mayor Brown then introduced the only item on the agenda, FEMA’s Preliminary Update 
to the Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM).  Matt Tolan Civil Engineer II stated the City is 
currently reviewing the Food Insurance Rate Maps.  He stated this process was last 
completed in 2010.   He explained the preliminary maps were released and the City has 
a 30-day non-technical period to submit comments after which there will be a 90-day 
appeal period (April – June).  Mr. Tolan stated adoption of the new maps will take place 
sometime early in 2020.   He stated city staff is submitting information to DNR and 
FEMA to make sure the maps are accurate.  He stated the maps have been updated by 
City staff with regards to GIS mapping.  Mr. Tolan reviewed various areas of the city, 
stating the modeling was based on 1976 maps.  He explained they have contracted with 
Snyder and Associates to create current modeling of these areas since the City’s has 
made considerable improvements.  He stated this will include the Downtown Levee 
improvements, Greenhill Road extension, Dry Run Creek improvements, and University 
of Northern Iowa detention pond updates.  David Sturch Planner III explained the 
Summary of Map Actions (SOMA).  The SOMA revalidates and rejects previous Letter 
of Map Changes (LOMC) based on the new FIRM study.   Mr. Tolan explained 
community updates will be made through City website, Waterloo Courier, Currents 
articles and Channel 15.   He explained staff can help answer questions but their 
insurance agent and FEMA should be their main point of contact for questions.  A brief 
discussion was held. 

There being no further discussion, Frank Darrah motioned to adjourn the work session, 
David Wieland seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously. Mayor Brown 
adjourned the meeting at 5:27 p.m.  

 

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

368



369



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  February 14, 2019 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special 
Class C liquor - renewal. 

b) College Square Cinema, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 

c) Chad's Pizza and Restaurant, 909 West 23rd Street, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

d) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C 
liquor - renewal. 

e) The Hydrant Firehouse Grill, 2002 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

f) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 

g) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - change in 
ownership. 

h) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - change in ownership. 

i) Tobacco Outlet Plus, 4116 University Avenue, Class C beer - change in 
ownership. 

j) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Class B native wine - permanent transfer. 

370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Water Reclamation Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Mike Nyman, Manager, Water Reclamation Division 

 DATE: January 29, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Oak Park Sewer Replacement, Professional Services Agreement  

 

 

In late November the elevated sanitary sewer main crossing the ravine between Oak 

Park Boulevard and Minnetonka Drive collapsed. Within 24 hours a temporary repair 

was in place and functional. A permanent replacement needs to be designed and 

constructed. Staff has been working with Snyder and Associates to begin design for this 

permanent repair.  

 

Elevated crossings are uncommon and can be difficult to construct. This line crosses a 

ravine in a wooded area on private property with unstable banks adding to the 

challenges in design and construction. The goal of this project is to construct a repair 

that will last for several decades with as little impact on the property as possible. 

 

The design and construction cost estimates were included in the FY19-24 CIP. The total 

estimate at that point was $300,000. At that time, complicating factors were not fully 

known. Total costs are now anticipated to be up to $375,000. As a part of these updated 

costs, a geotechnical survey will be completed to ensure that the design and 

construction avoid issues that led to the failure in November. Funding or timing of other 

projects will be adjusted to fit within the Sanitary Sewer Rental Funds. 

 

394



I am requesting approval of the Professional Services Agreement with Snyder and 

Associates for the design for this project for $113,000. This includes the geotechnical 

survey work as well. 

  

Thank you very much. Please contact me with any questions or concerns. 

395



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 
Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number SA-002-3182  
 

 
  

This Agreement is made and entered by and between Snyder & Associates, Inc., 5005 Bowling Street SW 
Suite A Cedar Rapids, IA 52404, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay 
Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

396



 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 

from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 12 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
 
 
 

397



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
 
 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed an estimated fee of Seventy-One Thousand and Fifty Dollars ($71,050.00). Contingency 
up to a maximum Nine Thousand Dollars ($9,000.00) may be utilized in addition to the $71,050.00 
listed above as noted in Exhibit A.  
 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Any other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk without liability 
or legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend and hold 
CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against 
CONSULTANT in the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally 
prepared even though such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by 
CONSULTANT. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or 
depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry 
out other projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are 
similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 

398



original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 
 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 

399



400



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

    
Exhibit A 

 
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number SA-002-3182 

 
   

This document outlines the scope of services specific to the Engineering design 
for the replacement of the Oak Park Boulevard sewer which includes an aerial 
crossing and truss bridge. The project generally includes utilization of a 
geotechnical analysis for the project area that is to be provided by the City to aid 
in design a utility truss bridge which is to support a replacement sanitary sewer 
that is to cross the ravine located towards the rear of the parcels between Oak 
Park Boulevard and Minnetonka Drive. The term “CONSULTANT” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the engineering design services professional 
(Snyder & Associates, Inc.) that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, hereinafter, the “CLIENT”, under contract.  
 
The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed 
in accordance with generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the 
services and supplies to complete the following:  
 
I. GENERAL 
 

This scope of engineering design outlines the services required to complete 
administration and design for the replacement of the sanitary sewer that is to 
cross the ravine located towards the rear of the parcels between Oak Park 
Boulevard and Minnetonka Drive. Major project components include review of 
the geotechnical report to be provided by the CLIENT, footing/abutment 
design, utility truss bridge design, sanitary sewer design and site restoration. 
One bid package will be developed for replacement of the sanitary sewer 
during 2019. The replacement sanitary sewer will have an 8-inch nominal 
diameter and follow the existing alignment. No flow analysis is to be performed 
for sizing of the sewer.  
  
The CONSULTANT will provide Engineering Services including design as 
required for the PROJECT. The CONSULTANT’S services shall include: 
project administration, including coordination of project team activity, utility 
coordination, permit applications, topographic survey, detailed design, 
preparation of construction documents and assistance during the bidding 
period. The CONSULTANT shall complete the design to generally conform to 
the 2019 Iowa Statewide Urban Design and Specifications (SUDAS) and the 
City of Cedar Falls Supplement Specifications.  

401



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

 
II. SCOPE OF WORK 
 

The CONSULTANT shall provide Design Engineering Services as required for 
the design of the above project as follows:  
 
A. DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 
The CONSULTANT will provide the basic services as follows. 

 
1. Survey Services - The CONSULTANT shall perform the necessary 

surveys (i.e. survey control, bench loops, Iowa One Call coordination, 
boundary survey and site topo a minimum of 50’ wide from Oak Park 
Boulevard to Minnetonka Drive) within the project limits including 
location and elevation of existing surface features including the sanitary 
sewer to be replaced and to locate, where possible, underground 
utilities from existing records and field locates by the utility companies 
and the CLIENT, as made available. Survey will only be collected where 
needed to complete the design. Additionally, up to four temporary 
construction easement exhibits shall be prepared. Acquisition services 
will be completed by the CLIENT.  
 

2. Environmental Analysis – The CONSULTANT shall provide wetland 
and stream delineation within the proposed project limits to obtain 
associated US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) permitting, if 
necessary, for construction of the replacement sewer. Additionally a bat 
habitat survey for Indiana and northern long-eared bat habitat at the 
project site will be completed. A report documenting the findings and 
pertinent information identified will be provided to the client as 
necessary for construction.  

 
3. Geotechnical Services – The SUBCONSULTANT to perform two soil 

borings to depths of approximately 50 feet, with one on either side of 
the ravine near the crest. The boreholes will be converted to temporary 
groundwater observation wells after completion of each boring and kept 
in place for at least two weeks. Subsurface exploration will utilize an 
atv-mounted rotary drill rig. The CLIENT should notify and/or make the 
CONSULTANT aware of any private utilities prior to completion of the 
borings. Laboratory testing of the soil materials found during the borings 
will include water content, unit dry weight, atterberg limits, particle size 
analysis, unconfined compressive strength and consolidated undrained 
triaxial compression.  

 

402



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

Results of the field and laboratory programs will be evaluated by a 
professional engineer. The engineer will develop a geotechnical site 
characterization, perform engineering evaluation and analyses to 
evaluate slope stability and sewer support structure foundation 
alternatives, and provide geotechnical engineering design criteria for 
the project. Stabilization recommendations will also be provided for the 
toe of the west ravine slope. The geotechnical report will include the 
following:  
 Site Location and Exploration Plans 
 Stratified boring logs with field and laboratory data 
 Summaries of subsurface exploration procedures and laboratory 

testing 
 Summaries of subsurface soil and groundwater conditions 

encountered 
 Site and project descriptions 
 Results of external (global) stability analyses for the existing 

slopes (2 sections) 
 Results of internal (local) stability analyses for the slopes with a 

new sewer support structure and stabilized west slope toe (3 to 4 
sections) 

 Geotechnical design recommendations for shallow foundations (if 
feasible) including: 
 Minimum widths and embedment for frost protection 
 Bearing depth(s) 
 Maximum net allowable bearing pressure 
 Estimated total and differential settlement 

 Shallow foundation construction considerations 
 Geotechnical recommendations and commentary for intermediate 

or deep foundations including: 
 Geotechnical discussion regarding feasible foundation 

system types 
 Minimum ‘pile/pier’ cap embedment for frost protection 
 Recommended minimum bearing depths and estimated axial 

capacities 
 Anticipated total and differential settlement 
 General construction considerations 

 Estimated seismic site classification based on the conditions 
encountered 

 Lateral earth pressure recommendations for sewer structure 
‘abutments’ 

 Recommendations for stabilization of the west slope toe 
 

 

403



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

4. Structural Design – The CONSULTANT shall prepare preliminary 
design to establish the bridge type, size and location, along with the 
final design for a prefabricated steel truss bridge to support the aerial 
crossing for the replacement sanitary sewer. Plan details are to include 
abutments, project quantities, notes and miscellaneous details. The 
bridge is to carry no other primary load beyond the sanitary sewer.  

 
5. Preliminary Design – The CONSULTANT shall develop preliminary 

design plans for the project letting. Upon completion, the design plans 
should be approximately 50% complete and include preliminary 
sanitary sewer, truss bridge and site restoration design. The 
deliverables for the preliminary design shall include an electronic 50% 
plan set, cover sheet with the designer and reviewer initials and an 
Engineer’s opinion of probable cost.  

 
6. Drainage Analysis – The CONSULTANT shall complete a TR-55 

methodology based drainage analysis to determine the 50-year flow 
within the basin through the construction limits. The flow analysis will 
be used to verify that associated permitting is not required. Associated 
permitting is not included.  

 
7. Utility Coordination – The CONSULTANT shall identify potential 

construction conflicts with franchise and City utilities. Coordination for 
potential relocation of conflicting utilities shall be completed. 
Identification of conflicts that could impact the project schedule or 
significantly impact the construction cost should be reported to the 
CLIENT if and/or when identified.  

 
8. Final Design – Following the review and general approval of the 

preliminary plans by the CLIENT, the CONSULTANT shall proceed with 
the development of Final Plans for the project. Upon completion, the 
design plans will be approximately 95% complete and shall include: 
incorporation of preliminary design review comments, an updated 
opinion of probable construction costs and a draft project manual. 
Construction permit applications shall also be submitted for review and 
approval for submittal to the Iowa Department of Natural Resources 
(DNR).   

 
9. Letting Services - The CONSULTANT shall incorporate Final Design 

review comments, prepare and submit the following for filing with the 
City Clerk; print-ready project manual, print-ready plan set certified by 
a licensed engineer in the state of Iowa and completed permit 
applications for submittal to the Iowa DNR. Additionally the 
CONSULTANT shall assist the CLIENT during the bid period in 

404



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

answering questions regarding design intent and prepare addendum 
for distribution by the Consultant. Furthermore a recommendation to 
award shall be provided.  

 
B. CONTINGENCY 

1. If at any time during the work the CONSULTANT determines that its 
actual costs will exceed the estimated actual costs, thus necessitating 
the use of a contingency amount, it will promptly so notify the 
CLIENT’S Project Manager in writing and describe what costs are 
causing the overage and the reason. The CONSULTANT shall not 
exceed the estimated actual costs without prior written approval from 
the CLIENT’S Water Reclamation Facility Manager.  
 

2. Items that may cause the need to utilize the CONTINGENCY include 
but are not necessarily limited to the following: Design standard 
changes, unanticipated field conditions (e.g. unknown utility conflicts), 
unforeseen geotechnical engineering findings, and other 
miscellaneous changes in scope.  

 
C. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 
1. The CLIENT may request Additional Services from the CONSULTANT 

not included in the Scope of Services as outlined. Additional Services 
may include, but are not necessarily limited to, geotechnical services, 
a Phase I Archaeological and Cultural Resources Survey, 
yard/lawn/pavement restoration following geotechnical fieldwork, 
repair/replacement of utilities that are incorrectly marked or not made 
known to the CONSULTANT prior to fieldwork, environmental site 
assessment or remediation, embankment stabilization, attending 
public meetings, permanent acquisition exhibits (e.g. permanent 
easements), acquisition services, providing testing services, 
construction services; expanding the scope of the project or the work 
to be completed; requesting the development of various documents; 
extending the time to complete a project through no fault of the 
CONSULTANT; or requesting additional work items that increase the 
Engineering Services and corresponding costs.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

405



 

 Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

III. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 

A. DESIGN ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 

1. Compensation for the Design Engineering Services by the 
CONSULTANT shall be based on the then current hourly rates and 
fixed expenses at an estimated maximum fee of $104,000.00. 
Contingency as defined in Section II.B may be utilized as defined up 
to a maximum amount of $9,000.  

 
B. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 
1. Additional Services by the CONSULTANT may be required for the 

project as listed in Section II.C. If additional services beyond the 
scope items listed above are necessary the CONSULTANT shall be 
entitled to negotiate a supplemental agreement to provide for the 
actual services performed. These services will be based on the then-
current hourly rates and fixed expenses and the CLIENT will be billed 
for actual direct hours spent. The CLIENT shall authorize services 
prior to the CONSULTANT initiating any Additional Services.  
 

 
IV. ASSIGNABILITY 
 

A. The CONSULTANT shall not assign any interest in this AGREEMENT 
and shall not transfer any interest in the same without the prior written 
consent of the CLIENT. Subconsultants designated as part of this 
AGREEMENT shall be deemed to be approved when this AGREEMENT 
is executed.  
 

B. Subconsultants are proposed as follows: 
 
Terracon Consultants, Inc. 
 

END 

406



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
    

Exhibit B 
 

Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number SA-002-3182 
 

  Original12/13/11 
Revision 01/31/2017 

 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR  

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 

407



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  

408



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 

 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Completed Operations”  

 
 
8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 

409



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 
Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement  

410



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     
$1,000,000
 
 
 
      
             
 
 
 
   
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
  

411



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

412



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

413



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
 

414



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
  

415



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
 

416



 

  Construction Engineering for  
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  CITY Project No. SA-002-3182 
 
 

417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

X

37885

09/24/18DPR9932456

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

Paula Dixon

USA

A waiver of subrogation applies in favor of certificate holder per requirement of written agreement.
City Project Number SA-002-3182; Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement

800-527-9049

09/24/19

220 Clay Street
City Hall

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

1-800-300-0325

Ankeny, IA 50023
P.O. Box 1159
2727 Southwest Snyder Blvd

Snyder & Associates, Inc.

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Claims Made

Professional Liability

Aggregate

Per Claim

Holmes Murphy & Assoc - CR

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

rjustcr

4,000,000

2,000,000

55196770

55196770

01/21/2019

City of Cedar Falls

A

434



 
Consultant  Construction Engineering for  
Project No. 119.0115.08  Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

    
Exhibit C 

 
Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number SA-002-3182 

 
  2/9/12 

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 

CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

435



 
Consultant  Construction Engineering for  
Project No. 119.0115.08  Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Exhibit B, shall constitute a default 
under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Exhibit B. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, Exhibit 
B. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

436



 
Consultant  Construction Engineering for  
Project No. 119.0115.08  Oak Park Blvd. Sewer Replacement 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SA-002-3182 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

437



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 12, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Place to Play Playground Project 
  Project No. PI-185-3156 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with Peters 
Construction for the construction of the Place to Play Playground Project. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
contract with Peters Construction for the construction of the Place to Play Playground 
Project.  
 
This project involves the construction of a play area in Greenhill Park that will provide 
recreation opportunities for individuals of all ages who have special needs. The plans 
will include play equipment, safety surfacing, fencing, etc. This project is to be 
completed in August of 2019. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
 Mark Ripplinger, Director of Municipal Operations 
 Brian Heath, Public Works Manager 
  
 
 
 
 

438



439



440



441



442



443



444



445



446



447



448



449



450



451



452



453



454



455



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: February 11, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 2019 Street Construction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3153 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with Peterson 
Contractors Inc. for the construction of the 2019 Street Construction Project. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
contract with Peterson Contractors Inc. for the construction of the 2019 Street 
Construction Project. This project will reconstruct 2.78 miles of City streets with new 
P.C.C. pavement and associated watermain, subgrade and drainage work. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
  
 
 
 
 

456



457



458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



474



475



476



477



478



479



480



481



482



483



484



485



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council    
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer  
 
 DATE: February 12, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc.   
   2019 Engineering Services 
   Supplemental Agreement No. 3 
    2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
   City Project No. BR-000-3183 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 3 to the Professional Services Agreement between 
the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 Engineering Services. This supplemental 
agreement will analyze the Bridge Inspection Report that was performed in 2018 by Foth Infrastructure & 
Environmental. The bridge inspection report showed areas requiring maintenance and repair by the City 
to bring all structures into conformance with current standards. The agreement will provide design 
services for the repair of approximately 9 structures. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
for the 2019 Engineering Services on December 3, 2018.  Funding for the Supplemental Agreement #3 
will be provided by the Street Construction Fund in the amount of $52,370.00. This project is included in 
the City of Cedar Falls’ Capital Improvements Program(#26).  
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval of this 
Supplemental Agreement No. 3 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the 2019 Bridge Maintenance Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
 

 
 

486



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Community Services Division  Planning Division 
Phone: 319-273-8606  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 3 
 

2019 Engineering Services 
2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR – 000 – 3183 

 
 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (CLIENT), 
and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated December 3, 2018 for the 
municipal engineering support services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include Scope of 
Services and Compensation for items required as a part of the 2019 Engineering Services, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement as follows:  
 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 See attached Exhibit A-Scope of Services and Exhibit B-Schedule 
 
II. COMPENSATION 
 
 Compensation for the Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed fee of Fifty-Two Thousand Three-Hundred Seventy-Four Dollars ($52,370.00). The 
compensation for this supplemental agreement is to be segregated from the original agreement. 
 

III. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in 
the Professional Services Agreement dated December 3, 2018.  
 

  

487



488



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 
   

  
 

Page 6 of 21 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 

 
2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR-000-3183 

  

 
The work to be performed by the CONSULTANT under this agreement shall encompass and include 
detailed work, services, materials, equipment and supplies necessary to complete the plans and 
specifications for maintenance work on various bridges in Cedar Falls, Iowa.  
 
The project involves maintenance work on the following bridges in the City of Cedar Falls: 

 Waterloo Rd. over Dry Run Creek 

 E. 18th St. over Dry Run Creek 

 Union Rd. over CC RR 

 Hudson Rd. over SW Branch Dry Run Creek 

 Center St. over Cedar River 

 Recreational Trail over Cedar River 

 Main St. over University Branch Dry Run Creek 

 Black Hawk Rd. over Unnamed Stream 

 Lone Tree Rd. over Drainage Ditch (West) 
 
The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed in accordance with 
generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the services to complete the following tasks: 
 

TASK A – Contract Management 
 
1.0 Project Management 
The project manager shall be responsible for the development and tracking of the project plan for the 
project development.  This includes task identification, staff scheduling and coordination, project 
communications, monthly progress reporting and invoicing and other important elements of the project.  
The project design duration is assumed to be eight (8) months. 
 
2.0 Project Development Team Meetings 
Maintain communications with the Project Development Team and various other designated 
representatives.  The project development team will include the City of Cedar Falls and Foth.  Meet to 
review progress and to discuss specific elements of the project design (assume one (1) meeting).  The 
meetings will also serve to establish schedules, develop project goals, establish initial design parameters, 
promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the decision-making process, and expedite design 
development.  Prepare minutes of meetings and keep documentation of other communications.  For 
budget purposes, it is assumed that the meetings will be attended by two (2) staff members of the 
CONSULTANT. 
 
The following project meetings are included with the scope of work: 
Final Design Review - one (1) meeting 
 
3.0 Quality Control Plan 
Establish review and checking procedures for project deliverables. Designate responsibility for 
implementation of the plan. 
 

TASK B – Project Coordination 
 
1.0 Public Information Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 

489



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
 

Page 7 of 20 

2.0 Individual Property Owner Meetings – (Task Not Included). 
 
3.0 Utility Coordination Meeting – (Task Not Included). 
 
4.0 Periodic Meetings with Local Elected Officials – (Task To Be Completed by City).  
 
5.0 Exhibit Preparation for Council Meetings – (Task To Be Completed by City). 
 

TASK C – Rehabilitation Plans 
 
1.0 Field Investigation 
Conduct a field investigation to further assess components recommended for repair and gather detailed 
measurements and quantities required for development of the repair plans. 
 
1.1 Review of Existing Plans and Inspection Records 
The CONSULTANT shall acquire original plans and past inspection reports from the City of Cedar Falls.  
The review of these documents will identify previous rehabilitation work, details unique to this structure, 
and previously identified areas of deterioration. 
 
1.2 Preparation for Field Inspection 
The CONSULTANT shall make the necessary arrangements prior to the field inspection to ensure the 
inspection is completed in a safe and efficient manner.  This includes preparation of inspection equipment 
and report forms.  Notice of the bridge inspection date will be provided to the City of Cedar Falls a 
minimum of two days prior to the inspection. 
 
1.3 Bridge Inspection 
Based on discussions with the City of Cedar Falls staff and a review of previous inspection reports, the 
bridge inspections will generally focus on the following areas of interest: 

 Locating areas and extent of spalled concrete on various bridge components. 

 Measurement of various elements that are recommended for replacement. 
 
Throughout the inspection, photographs will be taken to supplement the bridge inspection notes and 
sketches. 
 
2.0 Prepare Check Plans 
Design plans will be prepared and submitted to the CITY for review when approximately 90% complete. 
 
2.1 Title Sheet 
Prepare the title sheet conforming to CITY standards for the bridge rehabilitation project. 
 
2.2 Structural Rehabilitation Plans 
This task involves the preparation of detail sheets related to the rehabilitation of each bridge.  The 
following bridge repairs are included as part of this Scope of Services: 

 Waterloo Rd. over Dry Run Creek 
o Clean and reseal expansion joints 

 E. 18th St. over Dry Run Creek 
o Clean and reseal expansion joints 

 Union Rd. over CC RR 
o Clean and reseal expansion joints 

 Hudson Rd. over SW Branch Dry Run Creek 
o Replace bridge approach pavement 
o Repair ends of bridge deck 

 Center St. over Cedar River 
o Fill void around conduits in north abutment backwall 

 Recreational Trail over Cedar River 
o Replace expansion joint glands 

490



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
 

Page 8 of 20 

 Main St. over University Branch Dry Run Creek 
o Repair railing at NW corner 

 Black Hawk Rd. over Unnamed Stream 
o Evaluate options to replace bridge wings 

 Lone Tree Rd. over Drainage Ditch (West) 
o Repair broken welds on handrail 

 
Plans will provide details and estimated quantities applicable to the repair work identified at each bridge 
location.  IaDOT standard details and notes will be utilized where applicable. 
 
2.3 Traffic Control and Staging Plans 
This task involves preparing the traffic control plans when repair activities will impact vehicular and/or 
pedestrian traffic.  Maintain at least one traffic lane during construction. 
 
3.0 Prepare Final Plans 
The CONSULTANT will prepare final construction documents, which will generally include the following 
tasks for this project: 
 
3.1 Incorporate Comments from Check Plan Review 
The CONSULTANT will respond to comments resulting from the Check Plan Review.  Recommended 
modifications will be incorporated into the final plan set. 
 
3.2 Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
Prepare opinion of probable construction cost for the project.  Final cost estimates shall be based on 
representative all project elements and based on recent bid information.  Detailed quantity takeoffs will be 
developed and for this estimate. 
 
3.3 Project Permitting 
No permit applications for regulatory agencies are anticipated.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare the 
erosion control sheets for the development of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan and NPDES 
permitting by the Contractor. 
 
3.4 Preparation of Project Manual 
This task consists of preparation of a Project Manual utilizing the standard CITY front-end documents,  
including conditions of the contract and detailed construction specifications.  The Iowa Statewide Urban 
Design and Specifications shall be utilized on this project. 
 
4.0 Letting Services 
The CITY will coordinate and manage the project letting process.  The work tasks to be performed or 
coordinated by the CITY include the following:  printing of plans and specifications, distribution of bid 
documents, notice of project publication and distribution of addenda. 
 
The work tasks to be performed or coordinated by the CONSULTANT during the Bid Period Services 
shall include the following: 
 
4.1 Printing of Plans and Specifications (Task To Be Completed by City). 
 
4.2 Notice of Project 
The CONSULTANT shall prepare the formal Notice of Hearing and Letting.  The CITY shall handle 
publication of the Notice of Hearing and Letting. The CITY shall also prepare and disseminate an informal 
notice to contractors concerning the upcoming Project. 
 
4.3 Plan Clarification and Addenda 
The bid lettings shall be administered by the CITY.  The CONSULTANT shall assist the CITY during the 
bid periods in answering questions regarding the design intent.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare 

491



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
 

Page 9 of 20 

addenda as appropriate to interpret, clarify or expand the bidding documents.  The CITY shall distribute 
the plan clarification information and addenda to the project plan holders. 
 
4.4 Letting, Bid Tabs, and Award Recommendation 
The CONSULTANT shall be a representative present when the bids and proposals are opened and shall 
advise the CITY on the responsiveness of the bidders.  The CITY shall prepare the tabulation of bids, 
award of contract, and prepare the necessary contract documents for the project. 

 
TASK D – Construction Administration 
 
The work tasks to be performed or coordinated by the CONSULTANT during the Construction Period 
Services shall include the following: 
 
1.0 Pre-Construction Meeting  
The CONSULTANT shall attend a preconstruction meeting for the project with contractors, suppliers, 
utility companies and CITY staff.  It is anticipated that the CITY will perform construction administration 
and observation services. 
 
2.0 Shop Drawing Review (Limited) 
The CONSULTANT shall review shop drawings, samples, and other data which the Contractor is required 
to submit, but only for conformance with design concept of the Project and conformance with the 
information given in the contract documents.  The CONSULTANT shall evaluate and determine the 
acceptability of substitute materials and equipment proposed by the Contractor.  The CONSULTANT shall 
have authority to require special inspection or testing of the work, and shall receive and review all 
certificates of inspections, testing, and approvals required. 
 
The CONSULTANT shall review the following shop drawing submittals: 

a. Extrusion glands for Recreational Trail over Cedar River 
 
3.0 Site Visits 
In connection with observations of the Contractor’s work while it is in progress: 

a. The CONSULTANT shall make visits to the site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of 
construction as the CONSULTANT deems necessary (estimated two (2) site visits during the 
peak construction activity) in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design 
professional the progress and quality of the various aspects of the Contractor’s work.   Based on 
information obtained during such visits and on such observations, the CONSULTANT shall 
determine, in general, if such work is proceeding in accordance with the Plans, and the 
CONSULTANT shall keep the CITY informed of the progress of the work. 

b. The purpose of the visits to the site will be to enable the CONSULTANT to better carry out his 
duties and responsibilities during the construction phase and, in addition, by exercise of the 
CONSULTANT’s efforts as an experienced and qualified design professional, to provide for the 
CITY a greater degree of confidence that the completed work of the Contractor will conform to the 
Plans, and that the integrity of the design concept as reflected in the Plans has been 
implemented and preserved by the Contractor. 

c. The CONSULTANT shall not during such visits supervise, direct, or have control over the 
Contractor’s work, nor shall the CONSULTANT have authority over or responsibility for the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction selected by the 
Contractor for safety precautions and programs incident to the work or for any failure of the 
Contractor to comply with laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, or orders applicable to the 
Contractor furnishing and performing his work. 

d. During such visits, the CONSULTANT may disapprove of or reject the Contractor’s work while it 
is in progress if the CONSULTANT believes that such work will not produce a completed Project 
that conforms to the Plans, or that it will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the Project 
as reflected in the Plans. 

 

4.0 Design Interpretation 

492



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
 

Page 10 of 20 

The CONSULTANT shall answer design interpretation questions from CITY’s Project Manager and 
Contractors. 
 
5.0 Final Inspections and Project Closeout - (Task not included) 
 
6.0 Change Orders - (Task not included) 
 
7.0 Record Drawings 
This task consists of preparation of construction record drawings defining the actual location of 
improvements and fixtures.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare record drawings showing those changes 
made during construction, based on the marked-up drawings and other data furnished by the Contractor 
and the Resident Construction Observer.  The Engineer shall provide the CITY with one (1) reproducible 
copy of the record drawings. 

 
TASK E – Project Deliverables 
 
The scope of services shall be considered complete upon completion and delivery of the following items 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer: 
 

 Electronic Check Plans in PDF format 

 Electronic Final Plans and Project Manual in PDF format 

 Electronic files in MicroStation format, including design base maps and sheet files 
 

 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES: 
Additional Services are not included in this Agreement.  If authorized under a Supplemental Agreement 
the CONSULTANT shall furnish or obtain from others the following services: 
 

1. Traffic engineering design services 
2. Landscaping design 
3. Right-of-way acquisition services 
4. Environmental permitting 
5. Project letting services 
6. Construction period services (observation, testing and survey). 
7. Development of a finish grade ground surface (CAD tin file) and contours 
8. Right-of-way plan sheets (H-Sheets) 
9. Public open house / informational meetings 

 
CHANGES IN SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
The CITY may request Additional Services from the CONSULTANT not included in the Scope of Services 
as outlined.  Additional services may include, but not be limited to, expanding the scope of the project and 
work to be completed; requesting the development of various documents; construction services; or 
requesting additional work items that increases the Engineering Services and corresponding costs.  Upon 
initiation of Additional Services, the CONSULTANT will submit the estimated cost.  Such costs will be 
based on the current hourly rates and fixed expenses as outlined in the CONSULTANT’s attached 
Standard Fee Schedule.  Any amendments to the Scope of Services shall be in writing executed by both 
parties prior to the performance of any such additional services.  

493



Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC  2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
Project No. 19C017.00  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
 

Page 11 of 20 

 

Exhibit B 

Schedule 

 
2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number BR-000-3183 

 

 
The CONSULTANT shall complete the following phases of the Project in accordance with the schedule 
shown, assuming notice to proceed is issued by the CITY on or before February 5, 2019. 
 

Consultant Contract Approval    February 5, 2019 

Check Plans     March 22, 2019 

Final PS&E     April 5, 2019 

Project Letting     May 8, 2019 

Project Construction    June 2019 thru August 2019 

 
If notice to proceed is given at a later date, time of completion shall be extended accordingly. 
 

494



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: February 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: W. 1
st
 Street Reconstruction Project - Property Acquisitions 

  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1

st
 Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 

project is in the final design phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The utilities and other 
infrastructure work will be started early next year. The road construction will take place in 2019-
2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four lane to a five lane 
facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) properties and partial 
acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Appraisals and offers are gradually being sent to the properties affected by this corridor 
reconstruction project. The owners of the following properties have accepted our offer. 
 
 
Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

27 CVP Properties, LLC 809 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Permanent Easement 
Temporary Easement 
Tennant Agreement 

 
Attached is a map that identifies the location of these properties. 
 
The City will use federal funds for the design and right of way portion of this project. Per an 
agreement with the DOT approved on August 7, 2017, the city will be the lead in property 
acquisition and design. All eligible project costs will be split 50% City and 50% DOT which 
includes engineering, right of way, construction and construction administration. The city signed 
as agreement with Snyder and Associates on September 5, 2017 for these services. Funds for 
this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program in FY18 and FY20 
under item number 91. If approved, the City Attorney will prepare the necessary closing 

495



documents and staff will complete the acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 
the acquisitions and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the W. 1

st
 Street 

reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

496



497



498



499



500



501



502



503



504



505



506



507



508



509



510



511



512



513



514



515



516



517



518



519



520



521



522



523



524



525



526



527



528



529



530



531



Ol
ive

 St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt
 St

N 
Co

lle
ge

 St

Co
tta

ge
 G

rvElm St

Pa
rk

Dr

Edgewood St

Linda Dr

W 3rd St

Theimer St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

Pine St

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Fr
an

cis
 St

Di
vis

ion
 St

Fo
rre

st 
Rd

W 3rd St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

Ida St

Pe
ar

l S
t

Oak St

Parkway Ave

Ell
en

 St

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Iow
a S

t

Ge
ne

vie
ve

 St

W 4th St

Fr
an

kli
n S

t

N 
Fr

an
cis

 S
t

NEll enS t

S Park Rd

Edgewood St

N 
Di

vis
ion

 S
t

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Ba
ke

r D
r

Parkway Ave

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Higby Dr

Crescent Dr

Center St

75
74 6973

68
67

72 66 6571 64 63 62
61

60
59 58

57 56
55

54
52

51
50 49 48 47 46

45
4144

43

252 3 4 5 7 8 299 30 31
10

11
12

13
14

15
16

17
18

19 20
21

22
23 24

1

77
42

28

76 70
53

5 6 26 27

I

Signed
Submitted for Approval
Condemnation

532



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

             TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 
 
 DATE: February 14, 2019  
 
 SUBJECT: Certified Local Government Annual Report 
  
                       
In order to be eligible for the Certified Local Government (CLG) grant programs the City 
of Cedar Falls must have and maintain a Certified Local Government Agreement with 
the State of Iowa and the National Park Service. Under the CLG Agreement with the 
State, Historic Preservation Commissions are responsible for submitting an annual 
report summarizing the city or county's historic preservation work during the calendar 
year.  
 
This report documents that the City of Cedar Falls’ Historic Preservation Commission 
has met the requirements of the CLG program and would like to continue its CLG 
status. Approving this annual report for submittal aligns with City Council’s Organization 
Goal # 5 to preserve the community’s physical, human, and aesthetic assets by 
assuring that “Quality of life” services are available for the leisure, educational, cultural 
and personal enrichment of residents. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt the 
following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and authorizing the submittal of the 2018 Certified Local 
Government (CLG)/Historic Preservation Commission annual report to the State 
Historic Preservation Office. 

 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or concerns.  
 
 
XC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Julie Etheredge, Chair, Historic Preservation Commission         

 

533



534



535



536



537



538



539



540



541



542



543



544



545



546



547



1st St.

2nd St.

Overman
Park

Peter Melendy
Park

Gateway
Park

Sturgis Park

P

P

P

P

3rd St.

M
ai

n 
St

.

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St
.

Cl
ay

 S
t.

Fr
an

kl
in

 S
t.

St
at

e 
St

.

4th St.

5th St.

6th St.

7th St.

Little Red
Schoolhouse

Museum
Behrens-Rapp
Station
Tourist Information

Ice House
Museum

City
Hall

Library &
Comm.

Cntr.

Victorian 
House

Museum

Post
O�ce

Dining/Nightlife
Retail
Service
Residential
Suggested Route
Pick up/Drop o�
locations

P P

HISTORIC CEDAR FALLS DOWNTOWN TOUR & PHOTO HUNT
Courtesy of the Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission in partnership with Community Main Street,  

Historical Society, and Cedar Falls Tourism.
Write the location numbers from the map in the circles on the corresponding photos on the reverse side. 

1

2
3

4

56

7

8
9

26

27

28

29

30

25 10

11

12

14

13

15
1617

18

19

20

21
22

23

24

548



In observance of  the Cedar Falls Tourism & Visitors Bureau’s 30th 
anniversary, we have selected 30 features to identity in this downtown tour. 

All correctly completed entries will be included in a drawing  
for architectural Legos, a Community Main Street gift certificate,  
tourism swag, or a book from the Historical Society.  

Mail or drop off  your completed form by July 9th to the Community 
Main Street office (206 Main Street Suite B, Cedar Falls, IA 50613), 
Cedar Falls City Hall, Cedar Falls Public Library, or Cedar Falls  
Tourism & Visitors Bureau.

Please include the following:

Name:  ________________________________________________

Address:  ________________________________________________

Phone:  ________________________________________________

Email:  ________________________________________________

549



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax:  319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Administration Division 

 
  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: February 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: University Avenue Reconstruction Project – Phase 2  
  Project No. RC-000-3114   
 
 
Staff has been coordinating with the City of Waterloo regarding improvements at the 
intersection of University Avenue/Midway Boulevard.  Following the transfer of jurisdiction of 
University Avenue to the City of Waterloo in Summer 2016, Waterloo began design for 
reconstruction. 
 
Cedar Falls University Avenue Phase 2 project was bid in late 2016, including an overlay to 
the Midway Boulevard intersection.  As Waterloo’s design proceeded, we agreed full 
reconstruction of the Midway intersection should be completed.  Cedar Falls removed overlay 
work from its Phase 2 contract. 
 
Attached is a joint project agreement related to the intersection’s reconstruction.  Waterloo is 
bidding reconstruction of University Avenue from Midway Boulevard to Greenhill Road.  The 
Midway intersection is included and would be substantially complete by the end of 2019.  
There may be remaining work in 2020 such as driveway approaches, trail/sidewalk, and the 
signal installation.  During 2019 construction, traffic would move to one side of the road, with 
one lane in each direction, just as other portions have been in Cedar Falls.  The switch would 
generally be located mid-block between Cedar Heights Drive and Midway Boulevard. 
 
Staff has been working with the City of Waterloo on this agreement and feels it appropriately 
provides for the necessary work and cost share to do so.  The City of Waterloo approved the 
agreement at their February 11, 2019 meeting.  The Department of Community Development 
recommends approving the agreement.  CIP #84 for University Avenue Reconstruction 
anticipated a cost share to complete this area. 
 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 

Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
         
 

550



 
 

2/5/2019 

 

JOINT PROJECT AGREEMENT 

 

This Joint Project Agreement (the "Agreement") is entered into as of __________________, 

2019, by and between the City of Waterloo, Iowa ("Waterloo") and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

("Cedar Falls").   

  

RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, each party is reconstructing certain portions of University Avenue, and in 

the 2017-2018 construction seasons Cedar Falls substantially completed rebuilding that portion 

identified as "existing pavement" on Exhibit A attached hereto, and in the 2019-2020 

construction seasons Waterloo will rebuild that portion identified as "new pavement" on said 

Exhibit A; and 

 

WHEREAS, the intersection of Midway Drive with University Avenue (the 

"Intersection") contains elements in which the parties have mutual interest due to its location at 

the shared boundary of each city, and the parties will gain mutual benefit through cost 

efficiencies, elimination of redundant work, and more seamless connection of public 

infrastructure by working cooperatively for completion of the Intersection on the terms set forth 

herein. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises exchanged herein, and for 

other consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties 

agree as follows: 

 

1.  Purpose. The purpose of this Agreement is as described in the recitals set forth above.

 

2. Term and Termination.  This Agreement shall be in effect until completion of 

construction of the Intersection, including but not limited to the public streets that comprise 

the Intersection, related storm sewer, and traffic signals. This Agreement may be 

terminated otherwise only by the mutual written agreement of the parties or by the non-

breaching party after a material breach of the terms of this Agreement by the other party 

which is not cured within 45 days of written notice of such breach. 

 

3. Funding. Each party shall bear project costs as described in this Agreement, and shall be 

responsible for its own financing of same.

 

4. Property.  There will be no joint ownership of any personal or real property, other than as 

specified in paragraph 7 below.

551



2 

 
 

2/5/2019 

 

5. Administration.  The parties expressly do not provide herein for the creation of a separate 

legal or administrative entity to carry out the purposes of this Agreement. The parties will 

cooperate with each other in good faith and on a timely basis to resolve any issues that arise 

during the term hereof. Each party will perform, in a good and professional manner, all 

project responsibilities allocated to it hereunder. 

 
6. Construction of Street and Public Infrastructure.  Each party is responsible for design and 

inspection of those portions of the project work that lie within its respective city limits and 

shall solely bear all of such costs. Based on a coordinated set of designs, Waterloo shall 

prepare plans, specifications, estimate of quantities, and estimate of cost and submit them to 

Cedar Falls for review and comment.  After said plan, specifications and estimates have been 

approved by the parties, Waterloo shall put the contract out for bid, evaluate qualifying bids 

received, and award the contract to the lowest responsible bidder.  Waterloo shall be 

responsible for administration of the contract of construction and shall bear all costs of 

administration and oversight, except for inspection within the city limits of Cedar Falls which 

shall be the responsibility of Cedar Falls.  Cedar Falls shall be notified in advance of meetings 

involving the Intersection work.  Cedar Falls shall have the right of review and acceptance, in 

advance of acceptance or approval by Waterloo, with respect to any change orders as well as 

final acceptance of construction for that portion of the project within the Cedar Falls city 

limits. For change orders that are approved by both parties that result in increased or decreased 

costs, such additional costs or reductions shall be borne or credited as the case may be by each 

party in proportion to the size of the areas within each party’s city limits that are directly 

affected by the change order; or, if no proportion can be reasonably determined, then equally.  

Each party shall be responsible for street and infrastructure construction costs within its own 

city limits as shown by preliminary cost estimates outlined in Exhibit B with final costs based 

on as-completed construction costs. 

 

7. Traffic Signals.  Traffic signal removal and installation of new traffic signals and luminaire 

extensions at the Intersection will be administered by Waterloo.  The parties shall equally share 

the actual, as-completed cost of such removal and installation. After installation, Waterloo and 

Cedar Falls shall jointly own the traffic signals.  After installation the allocation of responsibility 

shall be as follows: 

a. Cedar Falls shall pay the electric bills for operation of the signal and luminaire 

extensions.  

b. Waterloo shall complete all routine maintenance of the signal and luminaire extensions,  

c. In cases where (a) an act of nature that is not covered through reimbursable funding or 

(b) a non-reimbursable incident occurs, then Waterloo and Cedar Falls will equally share 

the cost of damage repair or replacement, including parts and labor.   

 
8. Street Maintenance.  By separate agreement, the parties may provide for allocation of 

responsibility between them for routine maintenance of streets at the Intersection and its 

near vicinity, including but not limited to ice control and snow plowing. 

 

9. Project Payments & Timing.  Waterloo shall be responsible for administering all payments 

to contractors.  Upon fifty percent completion of the Intersection Waterloo will bill Cedar 

Falls and Cedar Falls will remit payment for fifty percent of the completed Intersection costs 

identified as Cedar Falls’ responsibility in Exhibit B.  This payment will be sent to Waterloo 

within sixty (60) days of said billing.  Upon project completion and final acceptance of the 

552



3 

 
 

2/5/2019 

 

Intersection by both Cedar Falls and Waterloo, Waterloo will bill Cedar Falls for the 

remaining portion of Intersection costs identified as Cedar Falls’ responsibility in Exhibit B 

with final costs based on as-completed construction costs.  This payment will be sent to 

Waterloo within sixty (60) days of said billing. 

 

Fifty percent completion occurs when the staging change is made that switches traffic, from 

the start of construction, to the opposite side of University Avenue roadway in order to 

complete the remainder of construction of the Intersection. 

 

10. Timing. Waterloo shall make every effort to construct the Intersection in a timely fashion.  

Barring the occurrence of force majeure, unavoidable delays or like factors as defined in the 

construction contract, all project work described in Sections 6 and 7 is anticipated to begin in 

2019, with the street and sewer and water infrastructure to be completed in 2019, with the 

possibility that driveways, sidewalks, landscaping, and traffic signals may not be completed 

until 2020.   

 

11. General Terms. This Agreement, including all exhibits hereto, constitutes the entire 

agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. It may be amended only by 

the mutual written agreement of the parties.    This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure 

to the benefit of the parties.  Time is of the essence in the performance of this Agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Joint Project Agreement by 

their duly authorized representatives as of the date set forth below the signature of each party. 

 

CITY OF WATERLOO, IOWA CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

      Quentin M. Hart, Mayor 

 

 

 

Attest: _________________________ 

  Kelley Felchle, City Clerk 

 

 

Dated _____________________ 

 

        By: ________________________________ 

   James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

 

          Attest: _________________________ 

          Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 

 

 Dated _____________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

553



 
 

2/5/2019 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Midway Drive Intersection 

 

  

554



FOR TRAFFIC CROSSOVER

TEMPORARY PAVEMENT

MIDWAY DR. INTERSECTION

EXHIBIT A

STORM PIPE

SIDEWALK AND TRAIL

COLORED CONCRETE

NEW PAVEMENT

EXIST PAVEMENT

LEGEND

OO

FEET

50

PORTION

CEDAR FALLS

PORTION

WATERLOO

555



 
 

2/5/2019 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Preliminary Project Costs by Jurisdiction 

 

556



557



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Phone: 319-273-8600 

Fax: 319-273-8610 

www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: February 14, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Contract for Consultant Services with Community ReCode, LLC  
  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update Project 
 
The Department of Community Development issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for 
consultant services to assist the City in developing a detailed vision plan for Downtown 
Cedar Falls and near neighborhoods and to develop new zoning standards to 
implement the vision plan. The study area includes the central business district (CBD) 
and areas surrounding the CBD that transition into the traditional residential 
neighborhoods to the west.  It also includes the extended Main Street corridor and 
areas immediately south and northwest of the downtown along the south side of the 
Cedar River. The study area is illustrated on the attached map in Exhibit D.  
 
The City received nine proposals to perform the work described in the RFP.  
 

A staff committee reviewed and scored each proposal independently based on a 
number of criteria, including: 

 Qualifications of the lead consultant and the project team 

 Past experience in working on similar projects in cities similar to Cedar Falls 

 Technical approach and project understanding 

 Team dynamics and whether the project team has worked together on similar 
projects in the past 

 Specific experience leading community visioning efforts and developing zoning 
standards to achieve the desired vision.  

 
Out of the nine submittals, the staff committee interviewed the three consultant teams 
with the top-scoring proposals and followed up with reference calls. After reviewing the 
proposals, conducting interviews, and contacting references, the staff committee 
determined that the best fit for the project was the team put together by Ferrell Madden, 
LLC in partnership with Community ReCode, LLC. Ferrell Madden, LLC will provide 
project management and take the lead in code drafting for the team. They have 
extensive experience conducting community visioning and translating those vision plans 
into zoning regulations. Community ReCode, LLC will be the contracting entity and will 

558



provide extensive knowledge and services regarding zoning, land use and planning law, 
along with knowledge of Iowa-specific law. The rest of the team is equally impressive 
and includes architecture, urban design, graphic design, and meeting facilitation for the 
visioning process from the firms Common Ground and Urban Advantage. Alta Planning 
+ Design will take the lead on transportation, parking, and engineering issues. Finally, 
as a part of the proposed scope of services Partners for Economic Solutions will 
conduct economic and market analysis to ensure that the vision plan and the new 
zoning are grounded in local market realities.  
 
The general scope of services outlined in this contract includes the following components: 
 

 Task 1– Project Organization, Management, and Goal-setting 
This task will include detailed project organization, travel by key members of the 
consultant team to Cedar Falls for initial meetings with City staff, preliminary 
physical site analysis, and document collection. It will also include the City 
Council goal-setting session, a first round of interviews with stakeholders and 
may include an initial public kick-off meeting or workshop.  

 

 Task 2 – Documentation, Review and Analysis 
The consultant team will conduct a detailed analysis, completed both on- and off-
site. Such analysis is integral to leading the public design workshop and 
developing the illustrative vision plan; and will provide the framework for the new 
zoning district(s) for the Downtown study area.  This work will overlap with Task 
One and continue through the beginning of Task Three. 
 

 Task 3 – Public Design Workshop and Vision Plan 
This task will include a full public design charrette process.  Building on initial 
analysis and gathering additional input from citizens, stakeholders, staff, and 
elected leaders through the charrette process described below, the consultant 
team will explore site-specific urban design scenarios addressing a series of 
questions related to character, scale and intensity of development; physical 
transitions and connections to surrounding areas; and potential range of uses.  
This information will be used to develop an illustrative vision plan and draft 
zoning standards for the Downtown project area.  
 

 Task 4 – Development of Zoning Code to Implement the Vision Plan 
Task will include drafting detailed zoning standards to supersede, in part or in 
whole, the present zoning for the Downtown study area. In addition, the team will 
review the entire zoning ordinance to develop a framework for integrating the 
new zoning. The administrative and development review processes will be 
reviewed and updated as necessary.  

 
The amount of the contract is $185,000.00, all inclusive of expenses. Staff has 
requested an optional service to present the draft code to the Planning & Zoning 
Commission at a separate meeting, if necessary and approved by the City’s Project 
Manager. This optional service, if used, would not exceed $4000.00. In addition, at the 

559



City Council’s discretion, the scope and fee of the agreement may be adjusted through 
supplemental agreement for the following tasks:  

 Additional Task 1: Drafting or revisions to the current zoning regulations for 
topics or content outside of the scope of work of the Downtown Visioning and 
Zoning Code Update for a specific scope of work and fee amount to be 
determined by the City;  

 Additional Task 2: Creation of a vision plan, zoning code, and/or zoning code 
amendments for one or more additional specific geographic areas, such as the 
College Hill Neighborhood, at a scope of work and fee to be determined by the 
City.  

CIP #101 plans for the costs of this project, utilizing a combination of Downtown Urban 
Renewal Area (TIF) and General Revenue. Please note that final details of the 
insurance requirements are being worked out with the consultant. Staff anticipates 
resolution of these final details by the time of the City Council meeting on February 18. 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of the attached agreement with Community ReCode, LLC for consultant services for the 
Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update Project.  
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me 
at this office. 
 
Attachments:  

 Professional Service Agreement 

 Exhibit A: Scope of Services 

 Exhibit B: Insurance Requirements 

 Exhibit C: Standard Terms and Conditions 

 Exhibit D: Study Area Map 

 
xc: Ronald Gaines, City Administrator 
 Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  
  

560



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number PZ-000-3184  
 

  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Community ReCode LLC, 617 Marion Street, Denver, CO 
80218, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's facilities in 

accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT and with 

whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, requests, and 
decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to this Agreement and the 
performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed upon, 

except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional standards in existence at 

the time of performance of the Services. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the quality 
of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of contract, shall 
be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary approvals 

561



required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the project; and designate a 
person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to the 

Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the project. 
CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results of such other 
services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
 (c) Complete CLIENT responsibilities identified in accordance with the Scope of Services (Exhibit A). 
 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar 
Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised February 17, 2015 consisting of 12 pages, which are 
attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word for word 
herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all coverages, 
endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth in Exhibit B. In the 
event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of this Agreement, the 
provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions set out 
in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto and marked 
Exhibit B. 

 
V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 

PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two pages are 
incorporated into this Agreement by the CLIENT and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 

Total compensation for the preparation of the Downtown Visioning and Zoning Code Update is one 
hundred eighty five thousand dollars ($185,000.00), all inclusive of expenses, except as may be adjusted 
for an optional additional trip as noted in Exhibit A, Project Scope, as approved by the CLIENT’s Project 
Manager, for a not to exceed all-inclusive fee of $4000.00.  
 
At CLIENT’S discretion, and as mutually agreed, the scope and fee of this Agreement may be adjusted 
through a Supplemental Agreement for the addition of any or all of the following tasks: 
  
a. Additional Task 1: Drafting or revisions to the current zoning regulations for topics or content outside 

of the scope of work of the Downtown Visioning and Zoning Code Update for a specific scope of work 
and fee amount to be determined by the CLIENT;  

b. Additional Task 2: Creation of a vision plan, regulating plan, zoning code, and/or zoning code 
amendments for one or more additional specific geographic areas at a scope of work and fee to be 
determined by the CLIENT. 

CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT agrees 
to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof. In the 
event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written notice of such disputed 
item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of 
the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt 
pay provisions currently in effect. 

562



 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days written 

notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may be 
terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure by the 
other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating party, 
providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary default, 
commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be paid for all 
expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance with compensation 
terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) All drawings, graphics, maps, documents, plans, and other instruments of service which 
CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to this Agreement shall become the 
property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been compensated for Services rendered. The final 
Vision/Charrette Report, zoning code, regulating plan, including all associated regulatory graphics 
shall be submitted in an electronic format that can be easily amended by the CLIENT, as necessary 
from time to time. Any other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk 
without liability or legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend and hold 
CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against CONSULTANT in 
the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally prepared even though 
such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by CONSULTANT. Nothing 
contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to 
use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other projects or work for itself or others, 
whether or not such other projects or work are similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than those 

with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to the 
compatibility of these files with any other system or software, except as mutually agreed to by the 
CLIENT and the CONSULTANT at the time of delivery of said electronic files, pursuant to 
paragraph VIII.(a), above.  

 
(c) CLIENT agrees to allow CONSULTANT and any subconsultants engaged by CONSULTANT who 

provide work product to CLIENT as a result of this Agreement to reference the name of the CLIENT 
and provide copies or excerpts of the work product created for CLIENT as a part of 
CONSULTANT’S or that subcontractor’s marketing efforts. 

 
IX. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed hereunder. 

Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be deemed to be the 
servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 
 

X. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be settled 

through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to mediation. In 
the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall notify the other 
party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to resolve their differences 
within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted for mediation in accordance 
with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or any successor organization) then 
in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can be changed if the parties mutually agree 
in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and submission to mediation. The expenses of the 

563



mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to 
seek mediation shall be a condition required before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or 
during the negotiations or the mediation either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by 
a statute of limitations, and CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to 
obtain security for the payment of its invoices. 

 
XI. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement, including all exhibits, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto 

and supersedes any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between this 
contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C shall 
control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control. 

 
(b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District 
Court, Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 

CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of any of its 
obligations under this Agreement. This Agreement may not be assigned unless agreed to in writing 
in advance by the non-assigning party.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of such 

form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with the terms of 
this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such forms shall be 
deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT and 

does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits limits 
the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are available to 
either party under the law. 

 
(g) This Agreement is subject to approval by the City Council of the CLIENT.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
By:  By:  
 
Printed Name: James P. Brown_______    Printed Name: Elizabeth Garvin, Esq., AICP             
   
Title: Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  Title: Founding Principal, Community ReCode  LLC    
 
Date:  Date:  
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________________ 
               Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

564



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

1 

 

 

 

                                                Exhibit A   
 

Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number PZ000-3184 
 

 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

*** This document outlines the scope of services specific for the Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code 

Update Project. The term ―CONSULTANT‖ as used in this document shall be defined as the lead 

consultant (Ferrell Madden LLC in partnership with the Community ReCode, as contracting entity) along 

with all sub-consultants, including but not limited to Urban Advantage, Alta Planning & Design, and 

Partners for Economic Solutions, that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract, 

hereinafter, the ―CITY‖. The CONSULTANT will coordinate all tasks with the City’s designated Project 

Manager.  

  

I.  Project Description 

The CONSULTANT will assist the CITY in developing a detailed vision plan and an associated 

zoning ordinance for Downtown Cedar Falls and near neighborhoods as illustrated on the study 

area map, attached as Exhibit D. The study area includes the central business district (CBD) and 

areas surrounding the CBD that transition into the traditional residential neighborhoods to the west. 

It also includes the extended Main Street corridor and areas immediately south and northwest of 

downtown along the south side of the Cedar River.  Minor adjustments may be made to the study 

area based on guidance from the CONSULTANT and input from the City Council during goal 

setting for the project.  This effort will serve as a demonstration project that may prompt similar 

visioning and zoning code updates in the future for other areas of the city.  

 

II.  General Scope of Work 

 

Task One: Project Organization & Management  

This task will include detailed project organization, travel by CONSULTANT key team members to 

Cedar Falls (Trip #1) for initial meetings with City Staff, preliminary physical site analysis, and 

document collection. It may also include the City Council Goal-Setting meeting, a first round of 

interviews with stakeholders and may include an initial public kick-off meeting or workshop.  

 

A. Organization & Kick-Off  

CONSULTANT will become familiar with Cedar Falls, the study area and the existing planning 

documents. Tasks will include: 

 Attend an initial organizational meeting and tour of the City and the study area; 

 Identify specific issues to be covered in the planning and coding process; 

 Collect documents, data, and plans associated with the study area not previously provided, 

including, but not limited to: 

- Zoning and subdivision ordinances 

- Current Comprehensive Plan 

565



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

2 

 

- Central Business District Overlay design standards and review process 

- Any additional plans for Main Street and adjacent neighborhoods (current and 

historic) 

- Any other land development regulations or guidelines 

- Recent traffic counts and/or transportation studies 

- Recent Economic Development Plans or studies 

- GIS data of land use, zoning, lot size, property ownership, building square feet and 

lot coverage 

- Base mapping for target areas in GIS/AutoCAD  

 Prepare a chart identifying the tasks and the responsible parties and finalize the timeline to 

complete the Scope of Services; 

 Develop a communication and coordination plan with the CITY’s designated Project 

Manager.  

 Assist with the City Council Goal-Setting session (exact timing to be determined, working in 

conjunction with City staff) 

 

B. Public Kick-Off Event 

CONSULTANT will conduct a public kick-off meeting to explain the nature and scope of the 

Downtown Visioning and Zoning Code Update project, present the basic concepts of place-making 

and form-based development regulations, and engage the public using one or more interactive 

exercises, such as mapping strengths and weakness in the study area and identifying visual 

preferences for future development. (Note: this event can occur during Trip #1 under Task One if a 

mutually available date and appropriate location are determined and meeting exercise preparations 

can be completed in advance. If not, the substance of the event can be incorporated into Task Three 

(Trip #2) as part of the Public Hands-On portion of the Design Workshop.) 

 

C. Public Participation – On-going throughout project 

Key points for public involvement and methods of participation are indicated throughout this scope. It 

is important to note, however, that development regulations are more technical in nature than 

comprehensive plans; language and standards must be very clear and precise. Directly engaging 

the public during the initial code drafting task is not practical.  

 

Prior to and during Trip #1, the CONSULTANT will work with the CITY to craft the public 

engagement plan.  

 

During Trip #1, Trip #2, and as otherwise mutually agreed, the CONSULTANT will interview and/or 

hold informational meetings with appropriate stakeholders.  These interviews/meetings may include 

groups and individuals including elected officials, nonprofit organization leaders, including 

Community Main Street, property owners, neighborhood representatives, local design professionals, 

developers, and business owners, and municipal staff, as appropriate for the relevant stage of the 

project. 

 

D. Media & Website 

Throughout the course of the project, the CONSULTANT will assist with press releases, be available 

to talk with the media (if desired), and create and maintain an interactive project webpage via a third-

party public engagement platform that is linked to the CITY’s website. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task One: 

 Trip #1: 3 to 4 people for 2-3 days 

566



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

3 

 

 Assist with City Council Goal-Setting session 

 Finalize public engagement plan in conjunction with City staff 

 Public Project Kick-Off event (or, as mutually agreed with the CITY, this event may partially or 

wholly be included with Task 3) 

 Establish a project-specific website 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task One: 

CITY will provide: 

 All plans, reports, and maps described in this section.  

 Staff logistical coordination and assistance on engaging with the City Council, commissions, 

stakeholders, working with media and the public (ongoing throughout the project) 

 Provide a location, logistical support, and advertising for Public Kick-Off event 

 Provide any refreshments desired for public meetings 

 Provide base maps, aerial photos, etc. well in advance of Trip #1 to prepare for interactive Kick-

Off event 

 

Task Two: Documentation, Review & Analysis 

CONSULTANT will conduct a detailed analysis, completed both on- and off-site. Such analysis is 

integral to leading the public design workshop and developing the illustrative vision plan; and will 

provide the framework for the new zoning district(s) for the Downtown study area.  This work will 

overlap with Task One and continue through the beginning of Task Three. 

 

A. Review and Evaluation of Existing Documents 

CONSULTANT will review the existing zoning ordinance, past studies and plans associated with the 

study area to gain an understanding of the dynamics of Cedar Falls.  In particular, during this task 

the CONSULTANT will review all of the existing zoning districts, with particular emphasis on those 

within the study area, along with other aspects of the current ordinance that apply to the areas (such 

as parking and signage standards, the downtown overlay district provisions, administration and 

development review processes, etc.) that may also need updating, as well as other City regulations 

that will impact the form and character of future development within the study area, such as street 

and subdivision standards.  

 

B. Leadership and Stakeholder Input (may occur during Trip #1 and #2)  

CONSULTANT will meet with key stakeholders to understand the current context and vision for the 

downtown study area. These meetings may include, but not be limited to: 

 Meetings with the planning and other key City staff. 

 One-on-one meetings with the City Council. 

 An initial workshop or meeting(s) with stakeholders (including property owners, business 

owners, and local developers—participants to be determined in conjunction with staff prior to 

Trip 1), focusing on the existing zoning and development review process; what works and what 

needs to be improved, eliminated, or added. 

 Meeting with development review staff and potentially with Public Works, Engineering, Public 

Safety, and any other departments or agencies involved with development review and approval, 

to be identified by the Client. 

 

C. Site Analysis: Urban Framework and Natural Features 

The CONSULTANT will analyze the urban framework and natural features of downtown and the 

surrounding area. The existing urban form—the network of streets, blocks and lots, building forms, 

567



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

4 

 

and public areas—will be examined within the study area and other parts of Cedar Falls. This will 

include a review of existing land use, density, open spaces, and urban design in the study area, 

including topography, viewsheds, and corridors. The analysis will be performed with the livability of 

downtown and surrounding neighborhoods in mind.  

 

In conjunction with the document review and analysis, this sub-task will help to define the 

boundaries of the proposed new districts; provide initial thoughts about the district regulating plan; 

and discover the ―local DNA‖ of the built environment as a foundation for new zoning standards. 

 

D. Transportation & Parking Analysis – See additional description in Task Three 

The CONSULTANT will undertake preliminary review of existing transportation networks and 

approach to parking management during this task as part of the site analysis. The physical layout of 

the built corridors and street network will be studied in conjunction with land uses. Existing traffic and 

parking information will be provided by the City and used to identify ―hot spots‖ in the study area that 

warrant further attention during Task Three. 

 

Basic circulation, pedestrian, and parking issues will be integrated within the overall planning and 

code writing process, as needed—including evaluation of current conditions, identification of 

alternatives, and strategy recommendations. Mobility options such as pedestrian and bicycle 

facilities, existing amenities, and improved connectivity will also be explored. This work will be 

incorporated in the illustrative Vision Plan and new district code, as appropriate. 

 

E. Understanding the Local Economy and Market – See additional description in Task Three 

Using existing data, knowledge of general market trends, and information gathered during 

stakeholder interviews, the CONSULTANT will gain an understanding of the range of uses and 

housing types that are logical candidates for new infill development in the downtown area. (This 

analysis will occur primarily off-site during this task, with follow-up during Task Three.) The basic 

economic and market information will be included in the Downtown Vision Plan charrette report and 

factored into the new zoning standards.  

 

The results of Task Two will be presented to the CITY and will be used to form the basis for the 

discussion of issues and opportunities with stakeholders, staff, elected leaders, and the larger 

community during the Design Charrette described in Task Three. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task Two: 

 Informally present results of site and document analysis to City staff either remotely via web-

based meeting at the conclusion of Task Two or in person at the beginning of Task Three prior 

to public design charrette. 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task Two: 

CITY staff will: 

 Create a list of stakeholders and community leaders, and assist with interview logistics; 

 Identify key departments and staff, and assist with scheduling meetings; 

 Assist with City and study area tours, if necessary. 

 

Task Three: Public Workshop and Vision Plan (Visit #2)  

This task will include a full public design charrette process.   

 

568



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

5 

 

Building on initial analysis and gathering additional input from citizens, stakeholders, staff, and 

elected leaders through the charrette process described below, the CONSULTANT will explore site-

specific urban design scenarios addressing a series of questions related to character, scale and 

intensity of development; physical transitions and connections to surrounding areas; and potential 

range of uses.  This information will be used to develop an illustrative vision plan, regulating plan, 

and draft zoning standards for the Downtown project area.  

 

A. Public Design Charrette 

The CONSULTANT will lead a seven (7) day on-site design charrette, using the following format to 

maximize public involvement:  

Community Kick-off Event. The charrette will begin with a presentation that describes the elements 

of traditional town design and placemaking, and introduces the overall workshop process, followed 

by a general Q & A discussion with audience members. This can occur as a standalone evening 

event or as the beginning of the hands-on session described below. 

Hands-on Public Design Session. Typically held during the day on a weekend. Following an 

introductory presentation, participants gather around tables in small groups with a facilitator to 

complete a series of interactive exercises to identify and address important issues and identify 

community aspirations. At the conclusion of this session, a spokesperson from each table presents 

the table’s ideas before the larger group. These presentations allow participants to share common 

goals, as well as provide an opportunity for in-depth discussion of particular issues or concerns.   

Open Design Studio. During the days that follow, the CONSULTANT will set up in an on-site studio 

in a local storefront or other accessible space (preferably within the study area). In the studio, the 

CONSULTANT further analyzes the citizen input and other information from the hands-on session 

and begins to synthesize the ideas into urban design concepts for the Downtown Vision Plan (that 

will also provide the foundation for the form standards and district regulating plan.) The design studio 

will be open to citizens throughout the week. If appropriate, a mid-week evening ―open house‖ may 

be held.  

Public Learning Opportunities. Several ―lunch & learn‖ sessions may be scheduled during the 

charrette to help inform the public about topics important to the visioning and zoning update process.  

Continuing Transportation Coordination. Armed with the City’s recent parking study and 

CONSULTANT’s initial site analysis and information, Alta Design+Planning will generate a set of 

design alternatives and initiatives to test the refinements from a traffic and parking perspective 

during the workshop, concurrent and consistent with land use and urban design decisions, to better 

inform the decision-making and consensus-building process while developing a mobility system that 

emphasizes an interconnected pedestrian and bicycle-friendly street network. As the charrette 

schedule permits, a presentation, perhaps at a public ―lunch & learn‖ session, about multi-modal 

transportation and parking management strategies for a walkable, mixed-use environment may be 

included.  

Continuing Economic and Market Analysis. More in-depth analysis completed by Partners for 

Economic Solutions (PES), related to socioeconomic demographics and market supply and demand 

for different housing types, retail, and mixed-use development. PES will follow-up with members of 

the real estate and development community about market-related issues revealed via data analysis 

and concerns identified during initial stakeholder interviews. In addition, PES will provide the design 

team with economic information to ensure that urban design scenarios being explored are viable in 

the Cedar Falls market. As the charrette schedule permits, a public ―lunch & learn‖ session 

highlighting the hidden costs and benefits of different zoning, parking, and transportation policies 

and which strategies are more likely to encourage development and investment in the downtown 

area.  

569



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

6 

 

Other Technical Meetings. While working on-site, a series of one-on-one or small group meetings 

will be scheduled as appropriate, including City staff and other government agencies (City Attorney, 

Public Works Department, Public Safety Department, Cedar Falls Utilities, etc.), local merchants, 

key property and business owners, real estate brokers, developers, and representatives from 

Community Main Street, neighborhood associations, historic preservation organizations, bicycle and 

pedestrian advocacy groups, local arts groups, and/or other key stakeholders. These meetings will 

assist in the CONSULTANT’S continued understanding of the physical, market, and organizational 

forces that are shaping Cedar Falls. 

Work-in-Progress Presentation. At the end of the charrette period, the CONSULTANT will present 

initial sketches, concepts and redevelopment scenarios for the Downtown Vision Plan. This will take 

place in an appropriate setting, which may be a special public event or could occur at a Planning & 

Zoning Commission or City Council meeting. The presentation will provide a summary of the input 

gathered during the charrette and a range of illustrated urban design and planning concepts. It may 

include: alternative redevelopment scenarios for targeted downtown sites; examples of ―change over 

time‖ or phased redevelopment; ―before and after‖ photo-realistic simulations showing site-specific 

redevelopment scenarios; and a draft of a rendered illustrative ―build-out‖ Vision Plan. A summary of 

high level action strategies may also be presented, highlighting opportunities for redevelopment, 

basic market information, potential parking management strategies; and detailing the roles and 

actions needed to implement the vision and facilitate adoption of the new downtown zoning district.  

   

B. Design Workshop Follow-Up (Trip #3 and Trip #4) 

 

Two to three weeks after the Design Workshop, CONSULTANT will submit a Public Review Draft of 

the Illustrative Vision Plan to the City for internal review.  Discussion of the draft plan will occur via 

web-based meeting or conference call.  

 

(Optional additional trip) At the discretion of the CITY’s Project Manager, and on a mutually 

agreeable date (Trip #3), the CONSULTANT will present a public review draft of the Illustrative 

Vision Plan at a Planning & Zoning Commission meeting that incorporates public feedback from the 

Work-in-Progress presentation, along with a brief Design Charrette Report outlining the process and 

emphasizing how the initial analysis, community and stakeholder input from previous meetings, and 

the community design sessions informed the vision for Downtown Cedar Falls. The report will also 

include a summary of the economic and market study information and initial concepts for a parking 

management strategy. This work will provide the foundation for new zoning districts for the study 

area and regulating plan.  

 

On a mutually agreeable date (Trip #3), the CONSULTANT will present a final draft of the Illustrative 

Vision Plan, Design Charette Report, and a summary of the economic and market study and parking 

management strategy recommendations at a City Council Meeting or at a Joint Meeting of the City 

Council and Planning & Zoning Commission, at the discretion of the CITY. The final draft will 

incorporate any public feedback received subsequent to the Public Design Charrette. Community 

endorsement of this plan will be fundamentally important to the ultimate adoption of new zoning 

standards for Downtown. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task Three: 

 Trip #2: 8 to 9 people for 7-8 days 

 Weeklong Public Design Charrette 

 Work-in-Progress Presentation, including graphics prepared during the charrette 

570



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

7 

 

 Optional Trip: Presentation and public hearing to the Planning & Zoning Commission- Public 

Review Draft of Illustrative Vision Plan/Charrette Report – 1-2 people for 2 days 

 Trip #3: Presentation and public hearing to City Council - Final Illustrative Vision Plan/Charrette 

Report – 2-3 people for 2 days 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task Three: 

The CITY will: 

 Provide a location, logistical and staff support, public meeting supplies, audio/visual equipment, 

and advertising for Public Design Charrette; 

 Provide any refreshments desired for public meetings; 

 Assist with scheduling additional technical and stakeholder meetings, as needed. 

 Coordinate legislative public review process through the Planning & Zoning Commission and 

City Council leading to final adoption of the Illustrative Vision Plan.  

 

Task Four: Development of Zoning Code to Implement the Vision Plan 

Task will include drafting detailed zoning standards to supersede, in part or in whole, the present 

zoning for the Downtown study area in order to implement the adopted Vision. In addition, the team 

will review the entire zoning ordinance to develop a framework for integrating the new zoning into the 

existing City Code. The administrative and development review processes will be reviewed and 

updated as necessary. Integration of the new zoning into the existing City Code will include drafting 

necessary revisions and updates to the current zoning language and identifying required cross-

referencing to all generally applicable standards that apply across zone districts (e.g. uses, parking, 

landscaping, lighting), or creation of separate standards, tables, or graphics that may be necessary 

to ensure that the new zoning districts are fully integrated into the current regulations. Integration of 

the new zoning into the current ordinance does not include making significant or wholesale revisions 

to the current regulations to correct existing problems; where such changes are potentially 

necessary to the proper functioning of the new zoning regulations, the CONSULTANT will notify the 

CLIENT about the issues with the current ordinance and work together to identify an acceptable 

approach to resolving the issue. 

 

A. Zoning Code - Internal Review Draft  

Working with the City’s Project Manager, the CONSULTANT will determine the format of the new 

documents that will work most effectively and efficiently within the existing regulatory system. The 

new zoning districts will include the following parts, while fulfilling the local development process and 

state law: 

A Regulating Plan based on the Vision Plan. Comparable to the zoning map and central to 

implementing the new regulations, it will set site specific parameters for basic urban form with block, 

building form standards, build-to-lines, street tree alignments, community spaces (greens, squares, 

and parks), and other special controls.  

Building Form Standards to govern the three-dimensional form and placement of the buildings as 

well as building and land use parameters. The goal of these standards is to shape the street-space 

(the public realm) with the building frontages.  

Urban Space Standards direct the placement of street trees and other amenities or street furniture 

(e.g., street lights, benches, signs) within the public realm in order to ensure the coherence and 

beauty of the streetscape.  These standards will include general specifications for (new) public or 

publicly accessible open spaces such as civic greens and squares. 

Street (Thoroughfare) Specifications are typically a sub-section of the Urban Space Standards. They 

include consideration of street trees, street lights and street furniture, sidewalks, on-street parking, 

and appropriate travel lane and curb geometry. The Street Specifications will be in two dimensions 

571



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

8 

 

only and do not deal with the engineering of the street and utilities, but do provide the necessary 

multi-modal configuration and set the framework for further engineering.  

Architectural Standards address a coherent and quality building character that is complementary to 

the best local traditions. (They will not regulate architectural ―style‖.) These standards will govern 

functional building elements (such as balconies, porches, storefronts, bay windows, awnings, etc.) 

throughout the new zoning districts, regardless of the building form standard, by setting parameters 

for allowable materials, configurations, and construction techniques. 

Administration. If necessary, new application, review and approval processes will be developed in 

conjunction with City staff in order to streamline and improve the project development and approval 

process for the new Downtown district—to make it easier and more predictable for developers to 

build to the community vision.  

 

B. Code Revisions and Adoption 

CONSULTANT will present the Internal Review Draft of the proposed regulating plan and zoning 

standards to the appropriate audience (staff, city attorney, technical advisory committee, etc.) in a 

work session format. The CONSULTANT will respond to questions and make one round of revisions, 

based on verbal and consolidated written feedback from the client, to produce a First and Second 

Public Review Draft of the proposed new standards.  The CONSULTANT will present each Public 

Draft to the appropriate public audience, stakeholders, planning board, or commission, as 

determined by the CITY, during consecutive trips to Cedar Falls. Working together, the CITY’s 

Project Manager and CONSULTANT will establish a process for receiving, reviewing, and 

responding to follow-up comments and questions from the planning board and the general public. 

Based on direction from the CITY, the CONSULTANT will incorporate a final round of feedback into 

the Final Draft, to be presented to the City Council in a meeting that fulfills all legal requirements for 

public notice and public hearing. 

 

CONSULTANT Deliverables for Task Four: 

 Trip #4: 2-3 people for 2 days: Internal Review Draft of Downtown District regulating plan and 

zoning standards 

 Trip #5: 2 people for 2 days: First Public Review Draft 

 Trip #6: 2 people for 2 days: Second Public Review Draft 

 Trip #7: 2 people for 2 days: Final Draft 

 

CITY Resources Required for Task Four: 

The CITY’s Project Manager will:  

 Ensure that relevant city staff are reachable for questions and discussion throughout the code 

drafting process 

 Coordinate the public comment period, review and provide consolidated feedback (comments 

and questions) on each draft in a timely fashion 

 Ensure that the process fulfills all of the legal notice and public hearing requirements of Iowa 

law. 

 

Estimated Time Table 

Note – in CONSULTANT’s experience, the time required for staff and planning commission to review 

draft code standards, hold hearings, and move through the public adoption process often takes 

longer than anticipated. CONSULTANT will deliver all of the documents requested in a timely 

fashion. The proposed timeline includes a projected target, but provides flexibility if additional time is 

needed by the CITY. 

 

572



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

9 

 

This timeline is based on the above Scope. Specific target dates will be confirmed in conjunction 

with the CITY during Task One. 

 

Task 1: Project Organization & Management – Month 1 (on-going throughout project) 

Initial site visit and finalizing scope and project calendar should be completed within one month of 

contract signing. 

 

Task 2: Documentation, Review, & Analysis – Month 1-3 

This will overlap with Task 1 and will begin as soon as documents are collected and ready for 

review. Site-analysis will begin during the initial trip to Cedar Falls and may continue during each 

subsequent trip, as needed, through code adoption. 

 

Task 3: Public Workshop & Vision Plan – Month 2-5 

A full public design workshop to be scheduled and planned within 6 to 12 weeks of contract signing, 

once mutually available dates have been determined. The public review draft of the illustrative 

Downtown Vision Plan and Charrette Summary Report will be delivered within 2 to 4 weeks of 

charrette completion, with the final draft presented for review and adoption within 2-4 weeks of 

presentation of the public review draft.  

 

Task 4: Zoning Code Drafting – Months 5-12 

The initial Internal Review Draft code standards will be available between 60 and 90 days after the 

design charrette.  

 

Following the submission of the Internal Review Draft, and each subsequent draft, the time required 

for Code revisions will be dependent on 1) the time needed by the CITY (and the public) to review 

the draft and provide consolidated written comments and feedback, and 2) the number and 

complexity of requested revisions.   

 

Adoption Process – Months 10-15+ 

Any legally required public notice periods will be factored into determining the final public hearing 

schedule and ultimate date at which the new zoning will be ready for adoption.  

 

III.  CONSULTANT – Project Team

At a minimum, the following firms and individuals shall serve as the consultant team, with Ferrell 

Madden serving as lead consultant, with all other listed firms and individuals as sub-consultants to 

Ferrell Madden. Any substitutions to the listed consultants and individuals must be approved by the 

CITY.  

 

Ferrell Madden will serve as the lead consultant and primary code-writing firm.  

 Mary Madden, AICP, will serve as overall project manager, working close with the City’s 

Project Manager to ensure that the project is responsive to the City’s needs and is 

completed on time and within budget. She will oversee all project deliverables.  

 R. Geoffrey Ferrell will serve as the lead urban designer and code writer.  

 

Elizabeth Garvin, of Community ReCode, will serve as the contracting entity and provide extensive 

knowledge and services regarding conventional zoning, land use and planning law, along with 

knowledge of Iowa-specific law in order to inform the visioning process and to integrate the new 

zoning into the existing City Code.  

573



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 

10 

 

 

Common Ground will provide urban design and other charrette services. 

 Keith Covington will work as an urban designer and charrette facilitator as well as provide an 

architect’s perspective as an ―end-user‖ on the team.  

 Lee Jones will work as an urban design and charrette facilitator as well as provide extensive 

knowledge of landscape architecture.  

 

Steve Price, of Urban Advantage, will create seamless photo montages that realistically show how 

development and landscaping can change the existing environment for the project area.  

 

Wade Walker, of Alta Planning + Design, will be the point person for transportation planning and 

engineering issues.  

 

Anita Morrison and Abby Ferretti, of Partners for Economic Solutions, will conduct the economic 

and market analysis and ensure that the vision plan and new zoning are founded in local market 

realities.  

 

IV.  Additional Services 
No additional services are included at this time. The contract may be amended in the future to 

provide services for visioning and zoning code development for other areas of the city, as mutually 

agreed upon or for revisions to the current zoning regulations for topics or content outside of the 

scope of work outlined above. Any additional services may be added through a Supplemental 

Agreement when appropriate to the project schedule. 

574



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

    

Exhibit B 
 

Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number PZ-000-3184 
 

  08/30/17 
 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

575



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 
 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 

All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 
 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

576



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 

577



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Performance and Payment Bonds: The City shall have the right to require 
the Contractor to furnish performance and payment bonds for the full amount of 
the Contract price.  The Contractor shall furnish, by a surety and in a form 
satisfactory to the City, such bonds to the City, prior to the start of Contractor’s 
Work, covering the performance of the Contractor and the payment of all 
obligations arising hereunder.  The Contractor, upon receipt of the bonds and 
invoice from the surety, shall pay for the cost of said bonds. Additional bond 
premium costs due to modifications to the Contract shall be included in the 
modification amount submitted by Contractor, and paid by Contractor.  
 
13. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
 

578



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

579



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

580



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

581



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

 
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

582



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

$1,000,000 

583



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

  

584



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

585



 

  Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

586



 Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number PZ-000-3184 
 

   
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 

CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, a city planner, 
and any other professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 
 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 

587



 Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment B, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
B. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment B. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 
 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 

588



 Downtown Visioning & Zoning Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. PZ-000-3184 

 

and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

589



Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. PZ000-3184 
 

 

                                                Exhibit D   
 

Downtown Visioning & Zoning Code Update 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number PZ000-3184 
 

 

Study Area Map 
 

The map below delineates the Downtown Study Area for City Project Number PZ000-3184. The study area includes the 

Central Business District (CBD) and areas surrounding the CBD that transition into the traditional residential 

neighborhoods to the west. It also includes the extended Main Street corridor and areas immediately south and 

northwest of downtown along the south side of the Cedar River.  Minor adjustments may be made to the study area 

based on guidance from the CONSULTANT and input from the City Council during goal setting for the project. A 

contract amendment shall not be necessary for changes to the study area, as mutually agreed to by the parties.  

 

 590


	Top
	1. Regular Meeting of February 4, 2019.
	190204MINUTES.docx

	2. Hearing-2018 Sidewalk Assessments
	1-Res-FinalAssessments-SW2018.doc
	2-Final Schedule of Assessments-Cover Page.docx
	3-Final Schedule of Assessments-2018.pdf

	3. Resolution adopting and levying the final schedule of assessments for the 2018 Sidewalk Assessment Project, Zone 9.
	4. PH on FY20 Budget
	1-budget hearing council #2.mem.doc
	2-FY20 budget form_001.pdf
	3-budget.pdf
	4-budget.pdf
	5-budget.pdf
	6-budget.pdf

	5. Res for PH on FY20 Budget
	6. PH - PI for Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project
	1. Memo-Council Pubic Hearing.docx
	2-Map.pdf

	7. Res for PH - PI for Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project
	8. PH - Amendments to College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District
	1- staff report CC 2.23.19-Final.docx
	2. Ordinance CHN code amendments.docx
	3- College Hill Overlay.revised.redline.final.docx

	9. Ord for PH - Amendments to College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District
	10. Commission Resignations
	1-Housing Resignation.docx
	2-HRC Resignation.docx

	11. Committee of the Whole Minutes 2/4/19
	Comm of the Whole 02 04 19.doc

	12. City Council Work Session Minutes 2/4/19
	Comm of the Whole (Special) 02 04 19.doc

	13. Tobacco Permit - Buzz-Smoke &amp; Vapor
	02182019 Tobacco Application.pdf

	14. Liquor Licenses 2/18
	Liquor Beer 02-14-2019.doc

	15. Second Amendment to Lease with Sartori Memorial Hospital, Inc. - Name Change
	1-memo Sartori.pdf
	2-2nd Amend to Sartori Lease.pdf

	16. Security Fence &amp; Gates for PS Facility - Contract
	Security Fence and Gate Bid and Contract for the Public Safety Building.pdf

	17. Asphalt Crushing Services Informal Contract
	190206150833_0001.pdf

	18. Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Replacement - PSA
	1-Oak Park Sanitary Memo.docx
	2- Oak Park PSA.pdf

	19. Place to Play Playground - Contract &amp; Bond
	1. PTP Playground Contract.docx
	2. Form of Contract.pdf
	3. Bonds.pdf
	4. Insurance.pdf
	5. Form of Proposal.pdf

	20. 2019 Street Construction - Contract &amp; Bond
	1. 2019 Street Recon Contract Memo.docx
	2. Contract.pdf
	3. Bonds.pdf
	4. Insurance.pdf
	5. Form of Proposal.pdf

	21. 2019 Engineering Services - Supplemental Agreement #3
	1. 2019 Engineering Services - SA#3.docx
	2. SA #3.pdf

	22. W. 1st Street Acquisition
	1.council memo on w 1st street ROW acquisitions 9-13-18.docx
	2.2305_001.pdf
	3.2306_001.pdf
	4.W1stPropAcq190218.pdf

	23. CLG Annual Report
	1. Memo to Council - 2018 CLG annual report.docx
	2. 2018 Annual CLG Report - Cedar Falls.pdf
	3. 2018 - anniversary hunt.pdf

	24. Joint Project Agreement between City of Waterloo and City of Cedar Falls
	1. Council memo-joint agreement 2-13-19.docx
	2. Joint Agt for Midway-Waterloo-Cedar Falls Final 2-5-19 - w-attachments.pdf

	25. PSA - Downtown Visioning &amp; Zoning Code Update Project
	1 -CC memo - Community ReCode- Downtown Visioning Project.doc
	2- Community ReCode Standard Profesional Service Agreement Feb 2019.docx
	3- Downtown Visioning  Code Update -  Exhibit A - Scope of Services.6.docx
	4- Community ReCode Attachment B-FINAL-Insurance Requirements.docx
	5- Community ReCode Attachment C-Standard Terms  Conditions-FINAL.docx
	6- Downtown Visioning  Code Update  -  Exhibit D - Downtown Study Area.docx

	26. Bills &amp; Payroll of 2/18/19
	Bottom

